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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Metro Manila, Philippines 
______________________ 

 
FORM 17- A 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 
 OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 

OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 
 ______________________ 

 
1. For the year ended December 31, 2015 

 
2. SEC Identification Number 39652     3.  BIR Tax Identification No.  004-844-938 
  
4. Medco Holdings, Inc.  
  
 Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter  
  
5.   Metro Manila, Philippines       6.        (SEC Use Only) 
      Province, Country or other jurisdiction of 

incorporation or organization 
       Industry Classification Code: 
 

 
7.   31st Floor, Rufino Pacific Tower, 6784 Ayala Avenue, 
 Makati City, Metro Manila, Philippines                    1229 
 Address of principal office           Postal Code 
 
8. Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (632) 811-0465 to 66 
 
9. Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report.  Not   
 applicable.   
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Sec 4 and 8 of the RSA 
  
  Title of each class   Number of shares of common stock 
       outstanding and amount of debt outstanding 
 
  Common    700,000,000 shares (P1.00 par value per  
       share) 
 
11. Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange.  Yes [ / ]       No  [  ] 
 
  Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE)    Common  
  Name of Stock Exchange    Class of securities listed therein 
 
12. Check whether the registrant: (a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of 
the SRC and SRC Rule 17 thereunder or Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder and 
Sections 26 and 141 of The Corporation Code of the Philippines during the preceding 12 months (or 
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports).   Yes  [ / ] No  [  ]  
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(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes  [ / ]      No  [  ]  
 

13.   As at December 31, 2015, the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of 
the registrant was P185,040,710 (based on the closing price of P0.49 per share on December 29, 
2015). 
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PART I - BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
Item 1. Business 
 
(2). Business of Issuer 
 

Medco Holdings, Inc. (“MHI” or “MED” or the “Corporation”) is an investment holding company 
listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”).  It was incorporated in the Philippines on October 23, 
1969 as the Mindanao Exploration & Development Corporation and adopted its current name in 1995. 
 

In May 1995, the Lippo Group through Citivest Asia Limited (“Citivest”) acquired approximately 
67% of the outstanding capital stock of the Corporation. In 1997, Citivest purchased additional MED 
shares which increased its equity stake to 70.67%. The Lippo Group is a major Asia Pacific business 
conglomerate principally involved in investment holding, property investment, property development, 
hotel operation, food business, property management, project management, mineral exploration, 
extraction and processing, fund management, underwriting, corporate finance, securities broking, 
securities investment, treasury investment, money lending, banking and other related financial 
services.  It has operating units and representative offices in major Asian countries.  Citivest is a 
corporation organized under the laws of the British Virgin Islands and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Lippo China Resources Limited (formerly Hongkong China Limited) (“LCR”), an investment holding 
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.  LCR’s subsidiaries and associates are 
mainly engaged in investment holding, property investment, property development, food business, 
property management, mineral exploration, extraction and processing, securities investment, treasury 
investment and money lending. 
 

Prior to the Lippo Group’s acquisition of a majority interest in the Corporation, MHI was 
engaged in mineral exploration and development.  With the entry of the Lippo Group in the middle of 
fiscal 1995, the Corporation embarked on a major corporate shift that resulted in its transformation into 
an investment holding company.  In line with the change in its primary business purpose, the 
Corporation had previously sold all its rights, titles, interests including all liabilities and obligations in its 
mining lease contracts and operating agreements to South Seas Oil & Mineral Exploration 
Development Co., Inc.   
 

Thereafter, the Corporation has been engaged in investment holding activities.  It does not 
produce or sell any product, or render any service.  At present, its investment portfolio is composed of 
holdings in companies involved in financial services and trade development (operation of exhibition 
halls and conference facilities). 
 

In December 2005, Citivest divested a portion of its shareholdings in the Corporation thereby 
reducing its equity stake to approximately 46%. 
 

Details of the principal subsidiary and affiliated companies and their activities as at December 
31, 2015 are as follows: 
 
        Percentage of 
     Fully paid-up  direct equity 
  Place of   common  ownership of       Principal  
Name  incorporation  share capital  MHI        Activities 
 
Medco Asia Philippines  P269,250,000     64.54%       Investment 
Investment               banking 
Corp. 
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        Percentage of 
     Fully paid-up  direct equity 
  Place of   common  ownership of       Principal  
Name  incorporation  share capital  MHI               Activities 
 
Export & Philippines  P4,734,452,540      2.45%       Commercial  
Industry Bank, Inc              banking 
(In receivership) 
 
Manila   Philippines  P165,000,000     18.18%       Exhibition  
Exposition                             hall  
Complex, Inc.               operation  
 
 
Medco Asia Investment Corp. (“MAIC”) 
 

In June 1996, the Corporation acquired an equity interest in MAIC (then named Lippo Asia 
Investment Corp.) a Philippine investment house.  At present, MAIC has an authorized capital stock of 
P400 million and a paid-up capital of P269.25 million.  As of 2010, MAIC was duly licensed by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to engage in investment banking activities such as 
securities trading, debt and equity underwriting, private placements, structured finance and corporate 
financial advisory services. 

 
On August 27, 1999, its board of directors and stockholders approved the change in the 

company’s name from Lippo Asia Investment Corp. to Medco Asia Investment Corp.  The change in 
corporate name was approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 18, 1999. 

 
On November 12, 1999, the Corporation remitted P 50.5 million to MAIC representing its 

deposit for an additional subscription of common shares of MAIC.  This additional investment was 
made to enable MAIC to comply with the capital build-up program for investment houses.  The 
approval of the SEC for the infusion of additional capital was granted on March 29, 2000, thereby 
raising the Corporation’s equity stake in MAIC to 64.54% 
 

On August 10, 2010 , MAIC filed with the SEC a request for the voluntary cancellation of its 
investment house license.  MAIC has been somewhat inactive in the securities underwriting business 
and such inactivity is expected to continue indefinitely.  MAIC also recognized an allowance for 
impairment loss on its investment in common shares of Export and Industry Bank, Inc., which 
comprised almost 79% of its total assets as of December 31, 2010.  Such impairment had resulted in 
MAIC’s inability to maintain the capital requirement for investment houses under the Investment 
Houses Law.  On December 9, 2010, MAIC submitted the original copy of its Investment House license 
to the SEC to comply with the condition precedent set by the SEC then for the issuance of the 
clearance for the cessation of its operations as an Investment House.  As of this writing, MAIC has not 
yet received the SEC’s formal approval on its request. 
 
 
Export & Industry Bank, Inc. (“Exportbank”) (In  receivership) 
 
 Exportbank is engaged in the business of commercial banking and of trust and funds 
management, and exercises all the powers of a commercial bank, trust company, and a corporation in 
general, as provided for under the General Banking Act, as amended, the rules and regulations of the 
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas, the Corporation Code of the Philippines and other applicable laws. 
 

In May 2001, Exportbank signed an agreement with the major stockholders of Urban Bank, 
Inc. (UBI) and Urbancorp Investments, Inc. (UII) for the rehabilitation of UBI and UII through a merger 
with Exportbank.  UBI, a commercial bank, was reopened as a result of the said merger with 
Exportbank.  The merger of Exportbank, UBI and UII, with UBI as the surviving entity, took effect on 
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February 1, 2002, whereupon the name of UBI was immediately changed to Export and Industry Bank, 
Inc.. Thereafter, the Corporation’s interest in Exportbank decreased from 29.83% to 17.49%. 
 
 In October 1, 2003, Exportbank listed 2.73 Billion common shares with a par value of PHP 
1.00 in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).  This was done simultaneously with the lifting of the 
suspension of trading of Urban Bank shares as approved by the PSE.  Shares formerly traded with 
stock symbol URB were since then traded under the new stock symbol EIB. 
   
 On May 25, 2005, pursuant to Section 17 (c) of Republic Act (RA) No. 3591, as amended, 
PDIC approved the grant of further assistance to Exportbank under the Memorandum of Agreement 
dated December 29, 2005 (the “Agreement”), anchored on the requirements of a new capital infusion 
in Exportbank of at least Php3.0 billion from major stockholders and the sale of a pool of assets 
consisting of UBI and UII non-performing assets (NPAs) with a gross book value of Php10.0 Billion.  
These NPAs were to be sold for a total consideration of Php3.0 Billion, together with the provision for 
other financial assistance in the form of (a) ten-year income support mechanism pegged to a principal 
amount of Php7.0 Billion or 70% of the balance of the Php10.0 Billion gross book value of the asset 
pool, under which the liability to the PDIC will be charged an interest rate of 1% and the government 
securities in which the proceeds of such liability will be invested in and which will be pledged with the 
PDIC to secure the liability will earn market rates of interest for the bank, and (b)  a ten-year 
subordinated debt amounting to Php2.0 Billion qualified as tier 2 capital at an interest of 1% for the first 
five years and 5% for the last five years, subject to a provision that would require the bank to pay more 
interest in the event that the cumulative income for the ten years that the debt is outstanding exceed 
the agreed amount that was projected for that period.  On May 26, 2005, the BSP likewise approved 
the grant of said rehabilitation assistance and certain regulatory relief, such as, among others, (1) the 
staggered booking of the write off of deferred income tax and goodwill accounts totaling Php1.8 Billion 
over 10 years; (2) the staggered booking over 15 years of the write-off of taxes and other related 
expenses in connection with the sale of said NPAs, under a programmed amortization with provision 
for acceleration; (3) the staggered booking of losses on sale of the said NPAs over 15 years, likewise 
under a programmed amortization with provision for acceleration. 
 
 Pursuant to the foregoing Agreement with PDIC, the major shareholders infused additional 
equity in two tranches: first in the last semester of 2005 and then in 2006, that brought the cumulative 
new capital infusion to Php3.0 Billion, which was primarily aimed at strengthening the bank’s capital 
base to meet the new requirements of the PAS 39 and other international accounting standards that 
were being implemented by the BSP. Likewise in 2006, all of the bank’s then-outstanding preferred 
shares were converted into common shares. Furthermore, the sale of the UBI/UII NPAs was effected 
in 2006 and this enabled Exportbank to significantly reduce its NPA ratio and improve its profitability. 
With the completion of the above transactions, including the new capital infusion, Exportbank achieved 
a stronger statement of condition and a risk-based adequacy ratio that was well within the BSP 
prescribed ratio for commercial banks.  
 

As result of the foregoing new capital infusion in Exportbank and the concurrent conversion of 
the bank’s outstanding preferred shares into common shares, the Corporation’s direct equity interest in 
the bank got diluted and decreased from 17.49% to 2.45%. 
 
 Then, in the later part of 2009, Exportbank started discussions with various prospective 
investors for the purpose of further augmenting the bank’s capital as well as exploring other related 
viable options with such investors along those lines, On July 16, 2010, the BSP granted its approval-in-
principle on the proposed sale to Banco de Oro Universal Bank, Inc. (BDO) of all of Exportbank assets 
in consideration for BDO’s assumption of all of Exportbank liabilities, including all of its deposit 
liabilities, subject to the execution of appropriate documentation and the fulfillment of certain closing 
conditions. On September 20, 2010, the Exportbank shareholders approved the proposed transaction 
with BDO. 
 

On April 13, 2011, PDIC approved the proposed transaction, subject to the execution of 
definitive documentation and the fulfillment of certain closing conditions, including the final approval of 
the BSP Monetary Board. 

 
On April 26, 2012, the Monetary Board, in its Resolution No. 686 dated 26 April 2012, decided 

to prohibit Export and Industry Bank, Inc. from doing business in the Philippines and to place its assets 
and affairs under receivership pursuant to Section 30 of the Republic Act (R.A) No. 7653 (the New 
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Central Bank Act).  The Philippine Deposit Insurance has been designated as Receiver of the 
aforementioned commercial bank. 
  
 
Other Affiliate 
 
 Manila Exposition Complex, Inc. is not a significant affiliate of the Corporation. 
 
 
Percentage of Sales or Revenues and Net Income Contributed by Foreign Sales 
 

During the year under review, there were no sales or revenues and net income contributed by 
foreign sales, not since the time deposit placements in Hong Kong were terminated in January 2009.   
 
 
Distribution Methods of the Products or Services 
 

The Corporation, does not produce or sell any product, or offer any service.  On the other 
hand, its significant subsidiaries do not employ any third party distributors or agents to distribute their 
products and services. 
 
Status of any publicly-announced new products or service 
 

None 
 
Competition 
 

 The still-unfavorable capital market environment continued to adversely affect the business 
prospects for the Corporation’s principal subsidiary, MAIC. Thus, on August 10, 2010, MAIC filed with 
the SEC a request for the voluntary cancellation of its investment house license. 
 
 
Sources and Availability of Raw Materials and Names of Principal Suppliers. 
 

The Corporation as well as its significant subsidiary, MAIC, are not into manufacturing and 
have no need of raw materials for its businesses. 
 
Dependence on Single Customer  
 

The Corporation’s significant subsidiary, MAIC, is not dependent on any single customer or 
just a few customers. 
 
 
Transactions with Related Parties 
 

The Corporation as well as its significant subsidiary, MAIC, borrow funds occasionally for their 
working capital requirements.  Apart from these, there are no other transactions with related parties. 
 
 
Expiration of Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights, Licenses,  Franchise , Concessions and Royalty 
Agreements. 
 

The Corporation as well as its significant   subsidiary, MAIC, have not entered into 
agreements related to patents, trademarks, copyrights, licenses, franchise, concessions and royalty. 
 
Need for Government Approvals of Principal Products or Services. 
 

As mentioned above, MAIC is awaiting the formal approval of the SEC on its request for the 
voluntary cancellation of its investment house license.   
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Effects of Existing or Probable Governmental Regulations 
 

The Corporation is subject to the rules and regulations of the SEC and the PSE.  Exportbank 
is regulated by the BSP, PDIC and the SEC.  The Corporation and its significant subsidiary are 
complying with existing government regulations which have been beneficial to their businesses.  The 
Corporation is not aware of any probable government regulation that could have any adverse effect on 
its business. 
 
Cost on Development Activities 
 

None. 
 
Cost and Effects of Compliance with Environmental Laws 
 

None. 
 
Total Number of Employees and Number of Full –Time Employees. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, the Corporation had two (2) employees.  One is a clerical 
employee and the other is an administrative personnel.  The Corporation does not anticipate any 
increase in the number of its employees within the ensuing twelve (12) months.  There were no 
employees covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement.  There are no supplemental benefits or 
incentive arrangements.  The Corporation’s employees are not on strike and have never gone on strike 
in the past. . 
 
Item 2. Properties 
 
 As at the end of 2015, the Corporation did not own any real property.  It has been sharing 
office space at the 31st Floor, Rufino Pacific Tower, 6784 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1229, Metro 
Manila (the “Floor”) with three other members of the Lippo Group of Companies in the Philippines, 
namely, MAIC, Lippo Securities, Inc. and Capital Place International Limited (“CPIL”).  The Floor has 4 
condominium units, one of which is occupied by the Lippo Group.  The Floor is owned by CPIL. 
 

MAIC is renting 211.82 sq. meters of Unit C of the 31F of Rufino Pacific Tower, Ayala Avenue, 
Makati City, from CPIL with annual rent payment of P1,219,384 for the year ended December 31, 
2015. 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 
 As at December 31, 2015 and as far as the management of the Corporation is aware, there 
are no pending material legal proceedings to which the Corporation or its subsidiary, MAIC, is a party 
or of which any of its property is the subject.   
 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
  
 Not applicable. 
 
 
OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
  
Item 5. Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters  
 
Market Information 
 
 The Corporation’s common shares are listed and traded on the PSE. 
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The high and low price of such common shares for the first quarter of 2016 were as follows: 
  

1st Quarter 
High Low 

P0.65 P0.40 
 
 

The high and low prices for each quarter of 2015 were as follows: 
  

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter  
High Low High Low High Low High Low 

P0.68 P0.42 P0.52 P0.39 P0.84 P0.36 P0.73 P0.47 
 
 
 The high and low prices for each quarter of 2014 were as follows: 
  

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter  
High Low High Low High Low High Low 

P0.31 P0.18 P0.44 P0.23 P1.01 P0.31 P0.85 P0.38 
 
  
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.   -- NONE 
 
Holders, Dividends and Sale of Unregistered Securities 
  
 Based on the records of the Corporation’s stock transfer office, Philippine Stock Transfer, Inc., 
as at December 31, 2015, there were 681 holders of the common stock of the Corporation.  
 

The following are the Company’s top 20 registered common stockholders holding listed and 
unlisted shares as of December 31, 2015: 
 
 

 Name No. of Shares Held % of Total
1. Citivest Asia Limited 322,314,874 46.0450%
2. PCD Nominee Corp.  198,138,156 28.3055%
3. Clariwealth Investment Limited 34,500,000 4.9286%
4. Green Target Limited 34,500,000 4.9286%
5. Prowealth Asia Limited 34,500,000 4.9286%
6. Sinojade Limited 34,500,000 4.9286%
7. Suncentury Asia Limited 34,500,000 4.9286%
8. Li Chih-Hui 3,300,000 0.4714%
9. Gatchalian, Rexlon 1,000,000 0.1429%
10. Rodrigo, Raul 1,000,000 0.1429%
11. Lo, Eduardo 394,000 0.0563%
12. Cordova, Lawrence 350,000 0.0500%
13. Ibardolaza, Marita 100,000 0.0143%
14. Chong, Lilian 50,000 0.0071%
15. Bautista, Emmanuel T. &/or 

Bernardita P. Bautista 40,000 0.0057%
16. Uy, Arturo &/or Arnel Uy 40,000 0.0057%
17. Guevara, Anna Georgina 23,000 0.0033%
18. Cua, Henry 20,000 0.0029%
19. Libertad Development Corp. 20,000 0.0029%
20. Ong, Lyn 20,000 0.0029%
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 As at December 31, 2015, the number of shares held by the public was 377,634,103 shares 
and the public ownership level of the Company is at 53.9477%. 
 
 No cash dividends have been declared by the Corporation on its common stock for the last 10 
years.  The Corporation Code of the Philippines provides that dividends may only be declared out of 
unrestricted retained earnings.  The directors will consider dividend payments after taking into account 
such factors as the Corporation’s cash flow, future expansion plans and prevailing bank interest rates.  
 
 There were no sales of any unregistered securities of the Corporation within the past three 
years. 

 
 
Item 6. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
 This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Item 1 of this report and the 
Audited Financial Statements and the related Notes to Financial Statements in Exhibit A of this Report. 
 
Plan of Operation 
 

The Corporation incurred recurring net losses of P6,497,816, P10,332,891, and P17,712,779  
on a consolidated basis for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The 
Corporation also reported deficits of P866,070,729 and P862,051,550  as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively. Despite having incurred such deficits, management believes that the Corporation 
will be able to turnaround and achieve positive operations in future years. 
 

As at December 31, 2015, the equity attributable to the stockholders of the parent 
Corporation, as stated in the balance sheets, has resulted to a capital deficiency amounting to 
P142,216,760 on a consolidated basis. 

 
As soon as practicable, the Corporation will implement the recapitalization plan that was 

approved by its stockholders on June 28, 2013 and which involves the following: 
 
1. Decrease in authorized capital from P700 million divided into 700 million shares to P7 

million divided into 700 million shares by reducing par value per MED share from P1.00 to 
P0.01, the amendment of the Seventh Article of the Articles of Incorporation of the 
Corporation for this purpose and the use of the additional paid-in capital thereby created, 
in addition to the current additional paid-in capital balance, to reduce the Corporation’s 
deficit; 

 
2. Increase in authorized capital from P7 million divided into 700 million shares with par value 

of P0.01 per share to P470 million divided into 47 billion shares with par value of P0.01 per 
share and the amendment of the Seventh Article of the Articles of Incorporation of the 
Corporation for this purpose; 

 
3. Issuance in a private placement of up to 11.77 billion shares out of the increase in 

authorized capital stock at an issue price of Php0.01 per share, or at par value, to such 
persons as the Board of Directors may determine; 

 
To implement the foregoing recapitalization transactions, the private placement participants 

will enter into subscription agreements with the Corporation within this year and remit their cash 
injections to the Corporation totaling approximately P117.6 million as deposits for their respective 
future subscriptions of MED shares.  Thereupon, the Corporation will submit its respective applications 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to obtain the SEC’s approval for the proposed 
decrease in its authorized capital, its capital restructuring transactions and the proposed increase in its 
authorized capital. The Corporation will concurrently submit its application with the PSE for the listing 
of the newly-issued shares. 

 
Upon obtaining the SEC’s approval on the proposed increase in the authorized capital of the 

Corporation, the Corporation will reclassify the aforementioned subscription deposits to paid-in capital 
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thereby completing its recapitalization.  The Corporation will utilize the proceeds of the said 
recapitalization to partially pay-off its existing debts and to augment its working capital. 
 

The Corporation is confident that it can satisfy its cash requirements not only in the next 
twelve (12) months but also on a long- term basis. Its liquid assets on a consolidated basis, which as at 
December 31, 2015 consisted of P1.63 million of cash and cash equivalents   In case the Corporation 
has any unforeseen cash requirement that cannot be met by its internal sources, its external sources 
of liquidity would consist of, among others, advances from its affiliate companies and/or major 
shareholders.  
 

.As of December 31, 2015, there were two (2) employees of the Corporation.  One is a clerical 
employee and the other is an administrative personnel.  The Company does not anticipate any 
increase in the number of its employees within the ensuing twelve (12) months. 
 
 
Results of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 
 
2015 
 

  Total consolidated revenues for the year ended 2015 increased by approximately 96% 
compared to the previous year. Consolidated revenues for this year consisted mainly of dividend 
income (99.76%), interest income from short-term placement and bank deposits (0.20%) and foreign 
exchange gain (0.04%). 

 
 The increase in consolidated revenues was mainly due to the increase in dividend income.  

Interest income contracted because of the substantial reduction in deposit placements due to 
withdrawals for the Corporation’s working capital requirements. 
 

On the other hand, total consolidated expenses decreased by approximately by 7% compared 
to the prior year.  The expenses for this year were composed of employee benefits (57%), occupancy 
(12%), professional fees (8%), representation (5%), and other expenses (18%).   
 

The decrease in the 2015 consolidated expenses relative to 2014 was mainly due to the lower 
membership fees & dues and utilities expenses paid by the Corporation’s subsidiary, MAIC, as a result 
of the agreement between MAIC and its lessor, CPIL, that the monthly lease rate effective on July 1, 
2015 up to May 31, 2016 shall be inclusive of the said charges. In previous years, these charges were 
being charged to MAIC. 
 

Other components of expenses, such as representation, communication, taxes & licenses, 
employee benefits as well as other expenses posted a decrease in the year under review.  This was 
the result of the Corporation’s continuing cost-cutting measures.   
 
2014 
 

  Total consolidated revenues for the year ended 2014 increased by approximately 87% 
compared to the previous year. Consolidated revenues for this year consisted mainly of dividend 
income (98%) and interest income from short-term placement and bank deposits (2%). 

 
 The increase in consolidated revenues was mainly due to the increase in dividend income.  

Interest income contracted because of the substantial reduction in deposit placements due to 
withdrawals for the Corporation’s working capital requirements. 
 

 On the other hand, total consolidated expenses decreased by approximately 31% compared 
to the prior year.  The expenses for this year were composed of employee benefits (55%), occupancy 
(11%), professional fees (8%), representation (6%), membership fees and dues (5%) and other 
expenses (15%).   
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The decrease in the 2014 consolidated expenses relative to 2013 was due mainly to a lesser 
impairment loss recognized this year, which is 97% smaller than last year’s impairment Loss. Last 
year’s impairment loss consisted largely of the outstanding amount of creditable withholding tax of the 
corporation’s subsidiary, Medco Asia Investment Corp. (MAIC) amounting to P3.1 million and the 
Corporation’s input VAT amounting to P1.01 million. 
 

Other components of expenses, such as taxes and licenses, foreign exchange loss, 
representation, finance costs, professional and management fees, as well as other expenses posted a 
decrease in the year under review.  This was the result of the Corporation’s continuing cost-cutting 
measures.   
 
2013 
 

  Total consolidated revenues for the year ended 2013 increased by approximately 0.4% 
compared to the previous year. Consolidated revenues for this year consisted mainly of dividend 
income (92%) and interest income from short-term placement (8%). 

 
 The increase in consolidated revenues was mainly due to the increase in dividend income.  

Interest income contracted because of the substantial reduction in deposit placements due to 
withdrawals for the Corporation’s working capital requirements. 
 

On the other hand, total consolidated expenses decreased by approximately by 31% 
compared to the prior year.  The expenses for this year were composed of employee benefits (42%), 
impairment losses (21%), occupancy (8%), professional fees (7%), representation (6%), and other 
expenses (16%).   
 

The increase in the 2013 consolidated expenses relative to 2012 was mainly due to the 
provision for the impairment loss on the outstanding amount of creditable withholding tax of the 
Corporation’s subsidiary (MAIC) amounting to P3.1 million and on the Corporation’s input VAT 
amounting to P1.01 million pending the availability of offsetting tax liabilities.   
 

Other components of expenses, such as foreign exchange loss, representation, membership 
fees and dues, as well as other expenses posted a decrease in the year under review.  This was the 
result of the Corporation’s continuing cost-cutting measures.   
 

Financial Condition and Changes in Financial Condition as of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 
2013 
 
2015 
 

As to the balance sheet as at the end of this year, total assets decreased by 11% compared to 
the previous year.  Total assets were composed of available-for-sale investments (87%), cash and 
cash equivalents (5%), due from related parties and receivables (7%), and other assets (1%).  

 
 The decline in the cash and cash equivalents account was due to the withdrawals in the 

deposit placement that were used for the Corporation’s working capital requirements and the payment 
of certain liabilities such as the withholding taxes and other payables.   

 
On the liabilities side, there was no significant change as compared to the prior year.  The 

increase in the due to related parties account was due to the advances obtained for working capital 
requirements and purposes.   
 

As at December 31, 2015, the total shareholders’ fund of the Corporation on a consolidated 
basis resulted in a capital deficiency of P142.2 million.   
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2014 
 

As to the balance sheet as at the end of this year, total assets decreased by 8% compared to 
the previous year.  Total assets were mainly composed of available-for-sale investments (77%), cash 
and cash equivalents (13%), due from affiliates and other receivables (9%) and other assets (1%).  

 
 The decline in the cash and cash equivalents account was due to the withdrawals in the 

deposit placement that were used for the Corporation’s working capital requirements and the payment 
of certain liabilities such as the retirement benefit obligation and accrued expenses.   

 
On the other hand, the increase in the due to related parties account was due to the advances 

obtained for working capital requirements and purposes.   
 

As at December 31, 2014, the total shareholders’ fund of the Corporation on a consolidated 
basis resulted in a capital deficiency of P138.2 million.   
 
2013 
 

As to the balance sheet as at the end of this year, total assets decreased by 16% compared to 
the previous year.  Total assets were mainly composed of available-for-sale investments (71%), cash 
and cash equivalents (21%), due from affiliates and other receivables (7%) and other assets (1%).  

 
As discussed in the foregoing results of operations for 2013, the decline in the total assets 

was mainly due to the recognition of impairment losses for the outstanding amount of the Corporation’s 
input VAT and for MAIC’s outstanding amount of creditable withholding tax. 

 
 The decline in the cash and cash equivalent account was due to the withdrawals in the 

deposit placements that were used for the Corporation’s working capital requirements and the 
payment of certain liabilities such as the retirement benefit obligation and accounts payable and 
accrued expenses.   

 
On the other hand, the increase in the due to related parties account was due to the advances 

obtained for working capital requirements and purposes.   
 

As at December 31, 2013, the total shareholders’ fund of the Corporation on a consolidated 
basis resulted in a capital deficiency of P131.4 million (as restated).   
 

Prospects for 2016 
 

 The year 2016 will likely be a good year as growth in the country’s economy this year is 
expected to be better than the positive GDP performance exhibited last year. Likewise, local business 
sentiment as well as foreign investors’ perception of the Philippines as an investment venue is 
expected to remain favorable. Given such continuing favorable outlook in the local investment 
environment, the Corporation plans to already implement its recapitalization plan within this year. 
 
 
Key Variable and Other Qualitative and Quantitative Factors 
 

The Corporation is not aware of any trends, events or uncertainties that would materially affect 
its liquidity and its operations as a whole.  There are also no material commitments for capital 
expenditure or any significant elements of income or loss from continuing operations.   The 
Corporation does not also anticipate any liquidity problem within the next twelve (12) months.  The 
Corporation has no default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing 
arrangement.  There are also no past due trade payables. 
 

The Corporation’s internal sources of short-term and long-term liquidity are its liquid assets 
and those of its subsidiaries, which as at December 31, 2015 consisted of P1.63 million of cash and 
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cash equivalents.  Its external sources of liquidity would consist of advances from its affiliate 
companies and/or major shareholders. 
 

There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent obligation that is material to the 
Corporation, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 

There are also no material off-balance sheets transactions, arrangements, obligations 
(including contingent obligation), and other relationships of the Corporation with unconsolidated 
entities or other persons created during the period. 
 

Furthermore, there were no known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are 
reasonably expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or 
income from continuing operations.  Aside from those already mentioned above, the Corporation is 
also not aware of any events that will cause a material change in the relationship between the costs 
and revenues. 
 
 
The top five (5) performance indicators of the Corporation and its subsidiary, MAIC, for the past 
three (3) fiscal years are presented below: 
 

a.   Revenue Growth- This measures how fast the Corporation’s business is expanding.  The ratio 
shows the annualized rate of increase (or decrease) of the Corporation’s revenues.  

 
b.   Net Income Growth- Similar to revenue growth, this ratio is an indicator of the rate of growth of 

the Corporation’s bottom line figure. 
 
c. Return on Equity- For an investor who wants to have an indication of his investment returns,  

this ratio provides such a measure.  
 
d. Current Ratio- This ratio measures the Corporation’s ability to pay its currently maturing 

obligations. 
 
e. Debt-to-Equity Ratio- This ratio offers a method of assessing the Corporation’s financial health 

and gauging the balance sheet durability.
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Top Five (5) Performance Indicators         

 December  31, 2015, 2014 and 2013         

   Medco Holdings, Inc. Medco Asia Investment Corp 

   (Consolidated) ( Major Subsidiary) 

   2015 2014  2013 2015 2014  2013 

          

1. Revenue Growth  Revenue Y1-Y0         

 Revenue Y0  96% 87% 0.45%  -31.20% 85.40% -99.69% 

          

2.  Net Income  Growth*      Net Loss Y1-Y0         

 Net Loss Y0  NA NA NA  NA NA NA 

          

3. Return on Equity** Net Income    NA NA NA  NA         NA NA 

 
Ave. Stockholders' 

Equity         

          

4.Current Ratio Current Assets  0.02x 0.04x 0.06x  0.02x     0.03x    0.05x 

 Current Liabilities         

          

5. Debt-to-Equity- Ratio**  Total Liabilities  NA NA NA   NA    NA  NA  

 Stockholders' Equity         

          

* Losses         

** Capital Deficiency  in 2015, 2014 and 2013        

         

Note:       

       Y1= Current  year        

       Y0= Previous  year          
 
 
 
Item 7. Financial Statements 
  

The consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes to Financial Statements of MHI for 
the past 3 years ended 31 December 2015 appear on the Index to Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Schedules page of this Report.  
 
 
Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 
 NONE 
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PART III - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
  
Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 
 
 
(A) (1)   Directors and Positions Held/Business Experience for the Last Five (5) Years 
 
 The current members of the Corporation’s Board of Directors together with a description of 

their other positions held and business experience for the last five years are enumerated as 
follows: 
 
BOBBY CHENG SAI CHONG, British, aged sixty six (66), has been a director of the 
Corporation since September 18, 2006 and has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors on July 23, 2009. He has more than thirty (30) years experience in banking and 
finance. 

 
DIONISIO E. CARPIO, JR., Filipino, aged sixty nine (69), has been a director of the 
Corporation since 1998 and its President from September 2006 up to present. He was the 
treasurer of the Corporation from 1998 to 2006. He is the senior vice resident, treasurer and 
director of MAIC since September 1, 1997 up to present. He is currently also a director of 
Manila Exposition Complex, Inc.. Before joining MAIC in 1995, he was connected with Far 
East Bank and Trust Company. Mr. Carpio holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical 
Engineering from the De La Salle University and a Masters degree in Business Management 
from the Asian Institute of Management. He has more than thirty-six (36) years experience in 
commercial, investment and trust banking, as well as line management. 
 
CALY D. ANG, Filipino, aged sixty eight (68), has been a director of the Corporation and of 
MAIC since 1995.  She has been an independent director of the Corporation and of MAIC 
since 2006. She is the president and general manager of Multi-World Philippines International, 
Inc. from 1989 up to the present and a director and president of Concord World Properties, 
Inc. from 1991 to the present. She graduated from Adamson University, Manila obtaining a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce in 1969 and a MBA from the same institution in 
1971. 
 
SOLOMON R. B. CASTRO, Filipino, aged forty seven (47), has been a director of the 
Corporation since 1998 to the present. He has been an independent director of the 
Corporation since 2002. He used to be the corporate secretary and vice-president-legal 
counsel of MAIC from May 1997 to August 1998.  He is the president and director of KBC 
Realty Corporation since 1996 to the present.  He is also the managing director of Bellwether 
Advisory, Inc. since 2006 up to the present.  He is a member of the Philippine bar. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration and a Bachelor of Laws degree from 
the University of the Philippines. He also has a Master of Laws degree from Cornell 
University, New York. His practice areas include banking and finance, securities regulation, 
mergers and acquisitions, and general corporate law. 
 
EDNA D. REYES, Filipino, aged sixty eight (68), has been a director of the Corporation since 
2000 and was its Treasurer between 2006 and 2007. She is also director of MAIC. She has 
more than thirty (30) years experience in banking, particularly in international and 
correspondent banking as well as foreign operations. She has a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Commerce from the University of Santo Tomas. 

 
PAULINE C. TAN, Filipino, aged forty six (46), has been a director of the Corporation since 
2009. She has been the treasurer and compliance officer of the Corporation since September 
20, 2007.  She worked in  The HongKong Chinese Bank, Limited in 1994. She was a director 
of Lippo Securities, Inc. and of MAIC from 1995 to 1999 and of Manila Exposition Complex, 
Inc. from 1995 to 2000 and from 2012 to the present.  She was also the Managing Director of 
Sun Hung Kai Securities Philippines, Inc. from 1999 to June 2000. 
 
PEDRO M. CADAVIDA, JR., Filipino, aged sixty seven (67), was elected as director during the  
stockholders’ meeting held on December 15, 2014. He has more than thirty (30) years of 
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experience in banking, finance and line management. He holds a Bachelor of Science in 
Commerce (Major in Accounting) degree, a Masters degree in Business Management and a 
Doctorate degree in Commerce (Business Management) from the University of Sto. Tomas 
(UST). He also regularly conducts lectures on Financial Management, Management 
Accounting as well as Banking in UST and other prestigious local universities and colleges.  
 
Executive Officers 
 
The following are the principal officers of the Corporation: 
 
Chairman of the Board    - Bobby Chong Sai Cheng 
President/Corporate Information Officer  - Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. 
Corporate Secretary    - Alex Erlito S. Fider 
Treasurer/Assistant Corporate Secretary  - Pauline C. Tan 
 
In addition to those already shown above, the following is description of the other positions 
held by the remaining principal officers and their business experience for the last five years: 
 
ALEX ERLITO S. FIDER, Filipino, aged sixty one (61), is the corporate secretary of the 
Corporation. He has been the corporate secretary since 2003 up to the present. He is a 
member of the Philippine Bar and a Senior Partner in Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos. As 
an economics and law graduate of the University of the Philippines, he has many years of law 
practice in commercial, securities, civil, and public utilities law having served as lead counsel 
for various private and publicly held companies in a wide array of transactions involving 
corporate finance, acquisition, securities offering, debt restructuring and real estate 
development. He undertook studies in urban and regional planning and strategic business 
economics. He is a Fellow of the Philippine Institute of Corporate Directors. 
 

 
(2)    Significant Employees 

 
There are no other employees who are expected by the Corporation to make a significant 
contribution to its business. Moreover, the business of the Corporation is not highly dependent 
on the services of certain key personnel. 

 
(3) Family Relationship 

 
None. 
 
(4) Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 

 
Based on their individual responses after due inquiry as of December 31, 2014, none of the 
following events occurred with respect to any of the foregoing nominees and executive officers 
during the past five (5) years that would be material to an evaluation of their ability or integrity 
to act as directors or executive officers of the Corporation, except as otherwise provided 
below: 
 

(a) Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which the nominee 
was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or 
within two (2) years prior to that time. Exception: On April 26, 2012, Export and 
Industry Bank, Inc. (“EIB), pursuant to Monetary Board (“MB”) Resolution No. 686 
dated 26 April 2012, was ordered closed by MB of the Bangko Sentral ng 
Pilipinas (“BSP”) and was placed under the receivership of the Philippine Deposit 
Insurance Corporation.  Mr. Bobby Cheng Sai Chong was a Senior Vice-
President of EIB up to 30 September 2011. 

 
(b) Any conviction by final judgment, in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or 

being subject to a pending criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, excluding 
traffic violations and other minor offenses; 

 
(c) Being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, 

suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, 
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permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting 
the nominee’s involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or 
banking activities; and 

 
(d) Being found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil 

action), the SEC or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign exchange 
or other organized trading market or self regulatory organization, to have violated 
a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment has not been 
reversed, suspended, or vacated. 

 
Item 10. Executive Compensation 
  

(1) Annual Compensation of the Top Executive Officers of the Corporation 
 

Name and Principal 
Position 

Year Salary Bonus Other Annual 
Compensation 

Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr.  2014 None None P45,000 

2015  None None P45,000 (President) 

2016 
(Estimated) 

None None P45,000 

Pauline C. Tan  2014 P2,340,000 None P45,000 

2015 P2,340,000 None P45,000 (Treasurer and 
Compliance Officer) 2016 

(Estimated) 
P2,340,000 None P45,000 

Ma. Lourdes B. Bathan 
(Corporate information  
officer) 

20141 
 

P65,000 None 
 

None 
 

All Top Executive  2014 P2,405,000 None P315,000 

Officers and 2015  P2,340,000 None P315,000 

Directors as a group 2016 
(Estimated) 

P2,340,000 None P315,000 

 
Notes:  
1. The aforementioned Other Annual Compensation consists only per diems given 

to directors. 
2. Each Director receives per diems of P2,000 for each board meeting. 
3. The Corporate Secretary does not receive a salary but his law firm is paid a 

professional retainer fee. 
 
 

(2) Compensation of Directors 
 

Since the dates of their election, except for per diems, the Directors have served 
without compensation. Except for per diems, the Directors did not receive any other amount or 
form of compensation for committee participation or special assignments. 
 

The Amended By-laws of the Corporation does not provide for compensation for the 
directors. As of the date of this Information Statement, no standard arrangements have been 
made in respect of director compensation. For the ensuing year, the Corporation does not 
foresee payment of compensation for directors, except reasonable per diems annually for 
each director. The Corporation, however, does not discount the possibility that director 
compensation other than reasonable per diems may be given in the future. 
 
 
( 3) Pursuant to Article VI, Section 8 of the Amended By-Laws of the Corporation, such 
compensation may be fixed by the directors with the approval of a majority of the stockholders 

                                                           
1 Compensation of Ms. Bathan up to her resignation on January 31, 2014. 
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and will in no case exceed 10% of the net income before income tax of the Corporation for the 
preceding year. 

 
(a) Employment Contracts 
 

There are no formal employment contracts between the Corporation and its executive 
officers and other officers. The terms and conditions of their employment are governed by 
applicable laws. 
 
(b) Compensatory Plan or Arrangement 
 

There are formal compensatory plan or arrangement between the Corporation and its 
executive officers and other officers. 
 
(d) Warrants and Options Outstanding 
 

There are no outstanding warrants and options held by the Corporation’s directors, 
executive officers and other officers. 

 
 
Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management- 
  

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners of more than 5% of the 
Corporation’s Outstanding Stock as of December 31, 2015: 
 

Title of 
class 

Name, Address of 
Record Owner and 
Relationship with 
Issuer 
 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner and 
Relationship with 
Record Owner 

Citizenship No. of Shares 
Held 

Percent of 
class 

Common Citivest Asia Limited 
C/o Room 2301, Tower 
One, Lippo Centre, 89 
Queensway 
Hong Kong (Parent 
Company of the Issuer) 

Citivest Asia Limited 
C/o Room 2301, Tower 
One,  Lippo Centre, 89 
Queensway 
Hong Kong (Parent 
Company of the Issuer) 

Foreign 322,314,874 46.0450% 

Common PCD Nominee Corp. 
Makati Stock Exchange 
Bldg., Ayala Avenue 
Makati City  
(No Relationship with 
Issuer) 

Various beneficial owners, 
each having less than 5% 

Filipino 198,138,156 28.3055% 

 
 
Security Ownership of Management  
 

To the extent known to the Board of Directors, as of December 31, 2015, there is no security 
beneficial ownership of Management, other than the shares held for their own account by the following 
directors: 
 
Title of Class Name of Beneficial 

Owner 
Amount and Nature 
of Beneficial 
Ownership 

Citizenship Percent of 
Ownership 

Common Stock Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. 1,000 (direct) Filipino Nil 

Common Stock Edna D. Reyes 50,000 (direct) Filipino Nil 

 TOTAL 51,000    
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Aside from the above, Mr. Carpio and other directors hold qualifying shares in the Corporation.  Such 
shares are held by them as nominees for and on behalf of Citivest Asia Limited, details of which are as 
follows: Mr. Carpio holds 8 of such shares; Mr. Solomon R.B. Castro holds 11 shares; and Ms. Pauline 
C. Tan, Ms. Caly D. Ang, Mr. Pedro Cadavida,Jr. and Mr. Bobby Cheng Sai Chong individually hold 1 
share each. 
 
Voting Trust Holders of 5% or More -       None 
 
Changes in Control -                None 
 
 
 
Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions ( See Note 14  of the Notes to the Financial 
Statements ) 
 

The Corporation and its subsidiary, MAIC, in the ordinary course of business, grant to and 
obtain advances from each other and affiliated companies.  In addition, MAIC also leases its office 
space from affiliate CPIL with an annual rental of P1,219,384 for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
 
Item 13. Corporate Governance 
 
Please refer to attached Annual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR). 
 
a. Evaluation System established by the Corporation to measure or determine the level of compliance 

of the Board of Directors and top level management with its Manual of Corporate Governance.  
  

The Corporation has accomplished and submitted its Corporate Governance Self-Rating Form 
(“CG-SRF”) to the SEC. The Corporation reviews the specific policies and regulations on the CG-
SRF and determines whether it fully complies with it. Any deviation is immediately discussed 
among the members of the management. As of this date, the Corporation has sufficiently complied 
with its Manual on Corporate Governance. There has been no deviation from the Manual on 
Corporate Governance. At the end of each fiscal year, the Corporation submits a certification of the 
attendance of its directors in meetings of the Board of Directors with such attendance having 
consistently complied with regulatory requirements.  

 
b. Measures being undertaken by the Corporation to fully comply with the adopted leading practices 

on good corporate governance. 
 

To strictly observe and implement the provisions of its Manual of Corporate Governance, the 
following penalties are imposed, after notice and hearing, on the Corporation’s directors, officers, 
staff, subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective directors, officers and staff in case of violation 
of any of the provision of the Manual of Corporate Governance: 

 
 In case of first violation, the subject person shall be reprimanded. 
 Suspension from office shall be imposed in case of second violation. 
 The duration of the suspension shall depend on the gravity of the violation. 
 For third violation, the maximum penalty of removal from office shall be imposed. 

 
 

The commission of a third violation of the Manual of Corporate Governance by any member of the 
board of the Corporation or its subsidiaries and affiliates shall be a sufficient cause for removal 
from directorship. 

 
The Compliance Officer shall be responsible for determining violation/s through notice and hearing 
and shall recommend to the Chairman of the Board the imposable penalty for such violation, for 
further review and approval of the Board. 
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c. Any deviation from the Corporation’s Manual of Corporate Governance. Including a disclosure of 
the name and position of the persons involved and sanctions imposed on said individual. 

 
As of this date, the Corporation has sufficiently complied with its Manual on Corporate Governance. 
There has been no deviation from the Manual on Corporate Governance. 

 
d. Any plan to improve corporate governance of the Corporation. 
 

The Corporation accomplishes and submits its Corporate Governance Self-Rating Form (“CG-
SRF”) to the SEC annually. The Corporation reviews the specific policies and regulations on 
the CG-SRF and determines whether it fully complies with it. Any deviation is immediately 
discussed among the members of the management. 
 
 
PART IV - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

 
 

      Page/Incorporation by Reference 
 

(1) Financial Statements    Please see accompanying Index to  
  Consolidated Balance Sheets  Financial Statements and Supplementary 
  Consolidated Statements of Income Schedules 
  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow  
  Notes to Financial Statements 
 
      (2)  Plan of Acquisition    not applicable 
 

(3) Instruments Defining the Rights of Securities not applicable 
  Holders           
  

      (4)  Voting Trust Agreement    not applicable 
 
     ( 5) Annual Report to Security Holders   not applicable 
 
     ( 6) Change in Certifying Accountant   not applicable 
 
     ( 7) Report furnished to Security Holders  not applicable 
 
     ( 8) Subsidiaries of the Registrant   1 
     
      (9) Published Report Regarding Matter Submitted not applicable 
 to Vote of Security Holders 
 
    (10) Consents of Experts and Independent Counsel not applicable 
 
    (11) Power of Attorney    not applicable 

 



















Notes 2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013

REVENUES

Dividends 8  6,000,000  P                   3,000,000  P                   1,500,000  P                  6,000,000                        3,000,000  P                   1,500,000  P                  

Interest 7  11,763                            61,425                            139,039                         11,358                             60,836                            137,025                         

Foreign exchange gain  2,968                              203                                -    2,968                              203                                -   

 6,014,731                        3,061,628                       1,639,039                       6,014,326                       3,061,039                       1,637,025                      

EXPENSES

Employee benefits 15  7,144,075                       7,333,143                       8,111,524                      2,956,983                        3,185,941                       4,155,583                      

Occupancy 14  1,531,384                        1,531,384                       1,531,384                      312,000                           312,000                          312,000                         

Professional and management fees  1,008,762                       1,083,192                       1,290,339                      649,750                           638,500                          704,012                         

Representation  674,764                          762,237                          1,202,790                      264,325                           358,195                          523,146                         

Membership fees and dues  427,210                          644,354                          621,839                         258,050                           263,050                          255,050                         

Communication  274,452                          304,940                          327,532                         42,919                             76,169                            80,595                           

Transportation  224,126                          209,985                          227,640                         224,126                           209,985                          224,985                         

Finance cost 15  138,819                          190,153                          296,900                         99,970                             155,245                          147,103                         

Impairment losses 11  136,433                          133,507                          4,117,907                      136,433                           133,507                          1,012,996                      

Foreign exchange losses  75,835                            4,909                              267,911                          -    -    174,311                         

Taxes and licenses 22  35,270                            68,143                            321,675                         20,469                             26,211                            18,835                           

Others 13  839,088                          1,116,295                       1,008,391                       463,049                          465,147                          418,915                         

 12,510,218                      13,382,242                      19,325,832                      5,428,074                       5,823,950                       8,027,531                      

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6,495,487 )(                     10,320,614 )(                    17,686,793 )(                     586,252                         2,762,911 )(                      6,390,506 )(                      

TAX EXPENSE 16  2,329                              12,277                            25,986                            2,248                              12,159                            25,583                           

NET PROFIT (LOSS) 6,497,816 )(                      10,332,891 )(                    17,712,779 )(                     584,004                         2,775,070 )(                      6,416,089 )(                      

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Item that will not be reclassified

subsequently to profit or loss

Remeasurements of post-employment 

defined benefit obligation 15  80,290                            831,882                          118,296                          242,881                          952,143                         500,135 )(                         

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 6,417,526 )( P                  9,501,009 )( P                   17,594,483 )( P                  826,885  P                     1,822,927 )( P                   6,916,224 )( P                   

Net Loss Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent Company  4,019,179  P                   7,687,654  P                   13,758,937  P                 -    -    -   

Non-controlling interest  2,478,637                       2,645,237                       3,953,842                       -    -    -   

 6,497,816  P                   10,332,891  P                 17,712,779  P                 -    -    -   

Total Comprehensive Loss Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent Company  3,995,796  P                   6,813,681  P                   13,857,092  P                 -    -    -   

Non-controlling interest  2,421,730                       2,687,328                       3,737,391                       -    -    -   

 6,417,526  P                   9,501,009  P                   17,594,483  P                 -    -    -   

Earnings (Loss) Per Share Attributable to the Shareholders 

of the Parent Company - Basic and Diluted 17 0.01 )( P                          0.01 )( P                           0.02 )( P                            0.001  P                        0.004 )(  P                        0.009 )(  P                        

See Notes to Financial Statements.

MEDCO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015, 2014 AND 2013

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Consolidated Parent Company
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Name of related party
Balance at beginning of 

period
Balance at end of period

SCHEDULE F - INDEBTEDNESS TO RELATED PARTIES (LONG-TERM LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES)

DECEMBER 31, 2015

MEDCO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

- nothing to report -

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

-1-
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A. BOARD MATTERS 
 
1) Board of Directors 
 

Number of Directors per Articles of Incorporation  7 

 

Actual number of Directors for the year 7 

 
(a) Composition of the Board 
 

Complete the table with information on the Board of Directors: 
 

Director's Name 

Type [Executive 
(ED), 

Non- 
Executive 
(NED) or 

Independ-
ent 

Director 
(ID)] 

If 
nominee, 
identify 

the 
principal 

Nominator in 
the last election 
(if ID, state the 

relationship with 
the nominator) 

 

Date 
first 

elected 

Date last elected 
(if ID, state the 

number of years 
served as ID)1 

Elected 
when 

(Annual 
/Special 
Meeting) 

No. of 
years 

served 
as 

director 

Sai Chong 
Cheng 

ED Citivest Asia 
Limited 

Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. 

2006 December 15, 
2015 

Annual 9 

Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. 

ED Citivest Asia 
Limited 

Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. 

1998 December 15, 
2015 

Annual 17 

Pauline C. Tan ED Citivest Asia 
Limited 

Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. 

2009 December 15, 
2015 

Annual 6 

Edna Reyes NED N/A Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. 

2000 December 15, 
2015 

Annual 15 

Pedro M. 
Cadavida, Jr. 

NED Citivest Asia 
Limited 

Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. 

2014 December 15, 
2015 

Annual 1 

Solomon R. B. 
Castro 

ID N/A Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. (no 
relationship) 

1998 December 15, 
2015(served 3 
years as ID) 

Annual 17 

Caly D. Ang ID N/A Dionisio E. 
Carpio, Jr. (no 
relationship) 

1995 December 15, 
2015 (served 3 
years as ID) 

Annual 20 

 
 

(b) Provide a brief summary of the corporate governance policy that the board of directors has 
adopted. Please emphasize the policy/ies relative to the treatment of all shareholders, respect for 
the rights of minority shareholders and of other stakeholders, disclosure duties, and board 
responsibilities. 

 
The Board should be transparent and fair enough in the conduct of the annual and special 
stockholders’ meetings of the Corporation. The stockholders should be encouraged to 
personally attend such meetings.  It is the duty of the Board to promote the rights of the 
stockholders, remove impediments to the exercise of those rights and provide an adequate 
avenue for them to seek timely redress for breach of their rights.  The Board should take the 
appropriate steps to remove excessive or unnecessary costs and other administrative 
impediments to the stockholders’ meaningful participation in meetings, whether in person or by 

                                                 
1 Reckoned from the election immediately following January 2, 2012. 
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proxy.  Accurate and timely information should be made available to the stockholders to enable 
them to make a sound judgment on all matters brought to their attention for consideration or 
approval.  Although all stockholders should be treated equally or without discrimination, the 
Board should give minority stockholders the right to propose the holding of meetings and the 
items for discussion in the agenda that relate directly to the business of the Corporation. 

  
(c) How often does the Board review and approve the vision and mission? 

 
No specific period. 

 
(d) Directorship in Other Companies 

 
(i)   Directorship in the Company's Group2 

 
Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the company's Board of Directors who hold the 
office of director in other companies within its Group: 
 

Director's Name 
Corporate Name of the 

Group Company 

Type of. Directorship  
(Executive, Non-Executive, 

Independent). Indicate if 
director is also the Chairman. 

Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. Medco Asia Investment Corporation   ED 
Edna D. Reyes Medco Asia Investment Corporation   Chairperson and NED 

Caly D. Ang Medco Asia Investment Corporation   NED 

 
(ii) Directorship in Other Listed Companies 

 
Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the company's Board of Directors who are also 
directors of publicly-listed companies outside of its Group: 
 

Director's Name Name of Listed Company 

Type of. Directorship  
(Executive, Non-Executive, 

Independent). Indicate if 
director is also the 

Chairman. 

   

NONE   

   

 
(iii) Relationship within the Company and its Group 
 

Provide details, as and if applicable, of any relation among the members of the Board of 
Directors, which links them to significant shareholders in the company and/or in its group: 
 

Director's Name 
Name of the 

Significant Shareholder 
Description of the 

relationship 

   

NONE   

                                                 
2 The Group is composed of the parent, subsidiary, and associates of the company. 
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(iv) Has the company set a limit on the number of board seats in other companies (publicly listed, 

ordinary and companies with secondary license) that an individual director or CEO may hold 
simultaneously? No. In particular, is the limit of five board seats in other publicly listed 
companies imposed and observed? No. If yes, briefly describe other guidelines: Not 
Applicable (N/A) 
 

 
Guidelines 

Maximum Number of 
Directorships in other. 

companies 

Executive Director N/A N/A 

Non-Executive Director N/A N/A 

CEO N/A N/A 

 
(e) Shareholding in the Company 
 

Complete thefollowing table on the members of the company's Board of Directors who directly and 
indirectly own shares in the company: 
 

Name of Director 
Number of Direct 

shares 

Number of 
Indirect shares / 

Through 
(name of record owner) 

% of 
Capital 
Stock 

Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr.  1,008 None Nil 

Edna D. Reyes 50,000 None Nil 

Solomon R. B. Castro 11 None Nil 

Pauline C. Tan 1 None Nil 

Caly D. Ang 1 None Nil 

Sai Chong Cheng 1 None Nil 

Pedro M. Cadavida, Jr. 1 None Nil 

TOTAL 51,023   

 
2)  Chairman and CEO 

 
(a) Do different persons assume the role of Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO? If no, 

describe the checks and balances laid down to ensure that the Board gets the benefit of 
independent views. 

 
                                Yes                         No   
    

Identify the Chair and CEO: 
 

Chairman of the Board Sai Chong Cheng 

CEO/President Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. 

 
 

(b) Roles, Accountabilities and Deliverables 
 

Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Chairman and CEO. 
 

 Chairman CEO/President 

Role Ensure that the meetings of 
the Board are held in 

a) To perform the duties of 
the Chairman of the Board 

X 



 

 

7 

accordance with the by-laws 
or as the Chair may deem 
necessary 

in the absence of the 
Chairman or because of 
the inability to act. 
 
b) To sign certificates of 
stock with the Corporate 
Secretary or other officer 
performing the latter’s 
duties. 
 
c) To execute 
stockholders’ consents, 
attend meetings, and act 
and vote in person or by 
proxy at any meeting of 
stockholders in which the 
Corporation may own 
stock, or designate his 
alternate or alternates 
from among the Board. 
 
d) To act as ex-officio 
member of any and all 
committee created by and 
in the Board. 
 
e) To prescribe duties for 
officers and employees 
that are not otherwise 
defined. 
 
f) To prescribe duties for 
officers and to countersign 
checks, drafts and orders 
for the payment of 
moneys. 
 
g) To exercise general 
superintendent and 
direction over all 
employees, agency 
managers, general agents, 
agents, and subordinate 
personnel of the 
Corporation, and shall see 
to it that their respective 
duties are property 
performed. 
 
h) To suspend any of his 
subordinate officers or 
employees should the 
exigency of the service so 
require, submitting a 
report thereon to the 
Board of Directors. 
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i) To make 
recommendations to the 
Board of Directors in 
regard to transaction not 
provided for by the By-
laws. 
 
j) To submit such reports, 
including annual reports, 
on the operation of the 
Corporation as the Board 
may require. 

Accountabilities Supervise the preparation of 
the agenda of the meeting in 
coordination with Corporate 
Secretary 

Please see above 

Deliveries Maintain qualitative and 
timely lines of communication 
and information between the 
Board and Management 

Please see above 

 
3) Explain how the board of directors plan for the succession of the CEO/Managing Director/President 

and the top key management positions? 
 
Top key management positions are filled up based on the requirements of the company and 
qualifications of the appointee.  
 

4) Other Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors 
 

Does the company have a policy of ensuring diversity of experience and background of directors in 
the board? Yes. Please explain. Directors are nominated and elected based on their experience 
and background. 
 
Does it ensure that at least one non-executive director has an experience in the sector or industry the 
company belongs to? Yes. Please explain. Directors are nominated and elected based on their 
experience and background. 
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Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Executive, Non-Executive and 
Independent Directors: 
 

 Executive Non-Executive Independent 
Director 

Role Please see 
footnote3 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

Accountabilities Please see 
footnote3 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

Deliveries Please see 
footnote3 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

 

                                                 
3 Unless otherwise provided by law, the corporate powers of the Corporation shall be exercised, all business conducted and all 
property of the Corporation controlled and held by the Board of Directors to be elected by and from among the stockholders. Without 
prejudice to such general powers as may be granted by law, the Board of Directors shall have the following express powers:  

 
a) From time to time, make and change rules and regulations not inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation and these By-laws 
for the management of the Corporation’s business and affairs;  
 
b) To purchase, receive, take, or otherwise acquire in any lawful manner, for and in the name of the Corporation, any and all 
properties, rights, interests or privileges, including securities and bonds of other Corporations, as the transaction of the business of 
the Corporation may reasonably or necessarily require, for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the Board 
may deem proper or convenient; 

 
c) To invest the funds of the Corporation in another Corporation or business or for any purposes other than those for which the 
Corporation was organized, whenever in the judgment of the Board of Directors the interests of the Corporation would thereby be 
promoted, subject to such stockholders approval as may be required by law;  
 
d) To incur such indebtedness as the Board may deem necessary and, for such purpose, to make and issue evidence of such 
indebtedness including, without limitation, notes, deeds of trust, instruments, bonds, debentures, or securities, subject to such 
stockholder approval as may be required by law, and/or pledged, mortgage, or otherwise encumber all or part of the properties and 
rights of the corporation;  
 
e) To guarantee, where it is in the best interests of the Corporation, for and in behalf of the Corporation obligations of other 
Corporations or entities in which it has lawful interests;  
 
f) To make provisions of the discharge of the obligations of the Corporation as they mature, including payment for any property, or in 
stocks, bonds, debentures, or other securities of the Corporation lawfully issued for the purpose;  
 
g) To sell, lease, exchange, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of any property, real or personal, belonging to the Corporation 
whenever in the Board’s judgment, the Corporation’s interest would thereby be promoted; provided that no agreement, contract, or 
obligation involving the payment of money or of the credit or liability of the Corporation shall be made without the approval of the 
Board of Directors, except by an officer or agent who is authorized generally or specifically, if the nature of the agreement requires 
specific authority, by the Board of Directors;  
 
h) To establish pension, retirement, bonus, profit-sharing or other types of incentives or compensation plans for the employees, 
including officers and directors of the Corporation and to determine the persons to participate in any such plans and the amount of 
their respective participation:  
 
i) To prosecute, maintain, defend, compromise or abandon any lawsuit in which the Corporation or its officers are either plaintiffs or 
defendants in connection with the business of the Corporation, and likewise, to grant installments for the payment or settlement of 
whatsoever debts are payment to the Corporation:  
 
j) To delegate, from time to time, any of the powers of the Board which may lawfully be delegated in the course of the current 
business or businesses of the Corporation to any standing or special meeting or to any officer or agent and to appoint any persons 
to be agents of the Corporation with such powers (including the power to sub-delegate), and upon such terms, as may be deemed 
fit;  
 
k) To implement these by-laws and to act on any matter not covered by these by-laws, provided such matter does not require the 
approval or consent of the stockholders under any existing law, rules or regulation. 
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Provide the company's definition of "independence" and describe the company's compliance to the 
definition. 
 
Independent of management and free from any business or other relationship which could materially 
interfere, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere, with the exercise of independent 
judgement in carrying out one’s responsibilities. The company complies strictly with this definition. 
 
Does the company have a term limit of five consecutive years for independent directors? Yes, pursuant to 
SEC Memorandum Circular No. 9 Series of 2011 which stipulates that an independent director can 
serve for five (5) consecutive years from January 2, 2012. If after two years, the company wishes to 
bring back an independent director who had served for five years, does it limit the term for no more than 
four additional years? No. Please explain. Under the aforementioned SEC Memorandum Circular No. 
9, after a “cooling off” period of 2 years, a former independent director of a Company is eligible for 
re-election as such in the same Company and can serve for another five (5) consecutive years. 
 
5) Changes in the Board of Directors (Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors) 

 
(a) Resignation/Death/Removal 

 
Indicate any changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that happened during the period: 
 

            Name        Position    Date of Cessation          Reason  

None    

 
(b) Selection/Appointment, Re-election, Disqualification, Removal, Reinstatement and Suspension 

 
Describe the procedures for the selection/appointment, re-election, disqualification, removal, 
reinstatement and suspension of the members of the Board of Directors. Provide details of the 
processes adopted (including the frequency of election) and the criteria employed in each 
procedure: 
 

Procedure Process Adopted Criteria 

a. Selection/Appointment 

(i) Executive Directors Please see footnote4 Please see footnote4 

                                                 
4 The Nomination Committee pre-screens and shortlists all candidates nominated to become a member of 
the Board of Directors in accordance with the following qualifications and disqualifications: 
Qualifications: 

 Holder of at least one (1) share of stock of the Corporation; 

 He shall be at least a college graduate or have sufficient experience in managing the business to 
substitute for such formal education; 

 He shall be at least twenty one (21) years old; 

 He shall have proven to possess integrity and probity; and 

 He shall be assiduous. 
Disqualifications: 

 Any person finally convicted judicially of an offense involving moral turpitude or fraudulent act or 
transgressions; 

 Any person finally found by the SEC or a court or other administrative body to have willfully 
violated, or willfully aided, abetted, counseled, induced or procured the violation of, any provision of 
the SRC, the Corporation Code, or any other law administered by the SEC or Bangko Sentral ng 
Pilipinas (“BSP”), or any rule, regulation or order of the SEC or BSP; 

 Any person judicially declared to be insolvent; 

 Any person finally found guilty by a foreign court or equivalent financial regulatory authority of acts, 
violations or misconduct similar to any of the acts, violations or misconduct listed in the foregoing 
paragraphs; and 

 Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for a period exceeding six 
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Procedure Process Adopted Criteria 

( i i )  Non-Executive Directors 
Same as Executive 
Directors 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

( i i i )  Independent Directors 
Same as Executive 
Directors 

Same as Executive 
Directors 

b. Re-appointment 

( i)  Executive Directors     Please see footnote4  Please see footnote4 

( i i )  Non-Executive Directors 
Same as Executive 
Directors 

Same as Executive Directors 

( i i i )  Independent Directors 
Same as Executive 
Directors 

Same as Executive Directors 

c. Permanent Disqualification 
             

( i)  Executive Directors Please see footnote4 Please see footnote4 

( i i )  Non-Executive Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

( i i i )  Independent Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

d. Temporary Disqualification 

( i)  Executive Directors Please see footnote4 Please see footnote4 

( i i )  Non-Executive Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

( i i i )  Independent Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

e. Removal                                          

( i)  Executive Directors Please see footnote4 Please see footnote4 

                                                                                                                                                             
(6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code, committed within five (5) years prior to the date of 
his election or appointment. 

b. Any of the following shall be a ground for the temporary disqualification of a director: 

 Refusal to fully disclose the extent of his business interest as required under the SRC and the 
implementing Rules and Regulations thereof. This qualification shall be in effect as long as his 
refusal persists; 

 Absence or non-participation for whatever reason/s for more than 50% of all meetings, both regular 
and special, of the Board of Directors during the incumbency, or any twelve (12)-month period 
during said incumbency. In view of the modern technology, however, attendance at Board meetings 
through teleconference or videoconference will be allowed. This disqualification applies for 
purposes of the succeeding election;  

 Dismissal/termination from directorship in another listed corporation for cause. This disqualification 
shall be in effect until he has cleared himself of any involvement in the alleged irregularity; 

 Being under preventive suspension by the Corporation; 

 If the independent director becomes an officer or employee of the same corporation he shall be 
automatically disqualified from being an independent director; or  

 Conviction that has not yet become final referred to in the grounds for disqualification of directors. 
c. The Nomination Committee shall consider the following guidelines in the determination of the 

number of directorships for the Board: 

 The nature of the business of the corporations which he is a director; 

 Age of the director; 

 Number of directorships/active memberships and officerships in other corporations or 
organizations; and 

 Possible conflict of interest. 
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Procedure Process Adopted Criteria 

( i i )  Non-Executive Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

( i i i )  Independent Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

f. Re-instatement                                 

( i)  Executive Directors Please see footnote4 Please see footnote4 

( i i )  Non-Executive Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

( i i i )  Independent Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

g. Suspension                                     

( i)  Executive Directors Please see footnote4 Please see footnote4 

( i i )  Non-Executive Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

( i i i )  Independent Directors 
Same as Executive Directors Same as Executive Directors 

 
Voting Result of the last Annual General Meeting 

 

Name of Director Votes Received 

Sai Chong Cheng 495,016,896 

Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. 495,016,896 

Edna D. Reyes 495,016,896 

Solomon R. B. Castro 495,016,896 

Pauline C. Tan 495,016,896 

Caly D. Ang 495,016,896 

Pedro M. Cadavida, Jr 495,016,896 

 
 

6) Orientation and Education Program 
 

(a)  Disclose details of the company's orientation program for new directors, if any. Each new director 
is required to attend a formal corporate governance course for directors at an SEC-
accredited training institution. 

 
(b) State any in-house training and external courses attended by Directors and Senior Management 

for the past three (3) years:  Each new director is required to attend a formal corporate 
governance course for directors at an SEC-accredited training institution. 
 

(c) Continuing education programs for directors: programs and seminars and roundtables attended 
during the year. 
 

Name of 
Director/Officer 

Date of Training Program 
Name of Training 

Institution 
Sai Chong Cheng Dec. 18, 2015 Seminar on Corporate 

Governance 
Risks, Opportunities, 
Assessment and 
Management, Inc. 

Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. October 15, 2015 Seminar on Corporate 
Governance 

Securities and Exchange 
Commission & Philippine 
Stock Exchange 
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Edna D. Reyes Dec. 18, 2015 Seminar on Corporate 
Governance 

Risks, Opportunities, 
Assessment and 
Management, Inc. 

Solomon R. B. Castro October 15, 2015 Seminar on Corporate 
Governance 

Securities and Exchange 
Commission & Philippine 
Stock Exchange 

Pauline C. Tan Sept. 29, 2015  Seminar on Corporate 
Governance 

Risks, Opportunities, 
Assessment and 
Management, Inc. 

Caly D. Ang October 15, 2015 Seminar on Corporate 
Governance 

Securities and Exchange 
Commission & Philippine 
Stock Exchange 

Pedro M. Cadavida, 
Jr. 

Sept. 29, 2015 Seminar on Corporate 
Governance 

Risks, Opportunities, 
Assessment and 
Management, Inc. 

 
 

B. CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS 
 
1) Discuss briefly the company's policies on the following business conduct or ethics affecting directors, 

senior management and employees: 
 

Business Conduct & 
Ethics 

Directors 
Senior 

Management 
Employees 

(a)  Conflict of Interest 

If an actual or potential 
conflict of interest may 
arise on the part of a 
director, senior 
management, or 
employee, they should 
fully and immediately 
disclose it and should not 
participate in the 
decision-making process.   

Please see previous 
column 

Please see previous 
column 

(b)  Conduct of 
Business and 
Fair Dealings 

A director should act in 
the best interest of the 
Corporation in a manner 
characterized by 
transparency, 
accountability and 
fairness. 

Management must 
actively manage and 
operate the Corporation 
in a sound, fair and 
prudent manner. 

Employees must conduct 
the business of the 
Corporation in a sound, 
fair and prudent manner 

(c)  Receipt of gifts from 
third parties 

Same as above Same as above Same as above 
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(d)  Compliance with 
Laws & 
Regulations 

Have a working 
knowledge of the 
statutory requirements  
that affect the 
Corporation, including its 
Articles of Incorporation 
and By-Laws and the 
rules and regulations of 
the Commission. 

Have a working 
knowledge of the 
statutory  requirements  
that affect the 
Corporation, including 
its Articles of 
Incorporation and By-
Laws and the rules and 
regulations of the 
Commission 

Have a working 
knowledge of the 
statutory  requirements  
that affect the 
Corporation, including its 
Articles of Incorporation 
and By-Laws and the 
rules and regulations of 
the Commission 

(e)  Respect for Trade 
Secrets/Use of 
Nonpublic 
Information 

A director should act in 
the best interest of the 
Corporation in a manner 
characterized by 
transparency, 
accountability and 
fairness. 

Management must 
actively manage and 
operate the Corporation 
in a sound, fair and 
prudent manner 

Employees must conduct 
the business of the 
Corporation in a sound, 
fair and prudent manner 

(f)  Use of Company 
Funds, Assets 
and Information 

Same as above Same as above Same as above 

(g)  Employment & 
Labor Laws & 
Policies 

Same as above Same as above Same as above 

(h)  Disciplinary action Same as above Same as above Same as above 

(i)  Whistle Blower Same as above 
 
 
 
confidential  

Same as above Same as above 

(j)  Conflict Resolution Same as above Same as above Same as above 

 
 

2) Has the code of ethics or conduct been disseminated to all directors, senior management5 and 
employees? Yes 
 
 
3) Discuss how the company implements and monitors compliance with the code of ethics or conduct. 
The company, through its Board of Directors and management, strictly implements and monitors 
compliance with the code of ethics and conduct. 
 
4) Related Party Transactions 
 

(a) Policies and Procedures 
 

Describe the company's policies and procedures for the review, approval or ratification, monitoring 
and recording of related party transactions between and among the company and its parent, joint 
ventures, subsidiaries, associates, affiliates, substantial stockholders, officers and directors, 
including their spouses, children and dependent siblings and parents and of interlocking director 
relationships of members of the Board. 
 

                                                 
5 Senior Management refers to the CEO and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the company. 
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Related Party Transactions Policies and Procedures 

(1)  Parent Company 

Transactions must be fair and at arm’s length. Related 
party transactions are reviewed by the Board of 
Directors.  

(2)  Joint Ventures Same as above 

(3)  Subsidiaries Same as above 

(4)  Entities Under Common 
Control 

Same as above 

(5)  Substantial Stockholders Same as above 

(6)  Officers including 
spouse/children/siblings/par
ents 

Same as above 

(7)  Directors including 
spouse/children/siblings/pa
rents 

Same as above 

(8)  Interlocking director 
relationship of Board of 
Directors 

Same as above 

 
(b) Conflict of Interest 
 

(i) Directors/Officers and 5% or more Shareholders 
 

Identify any actual or probable conflict of interest to which directors/officers/5% or more 
shareholders may be involved. 

 

                 Details of Conflict 
       of interest (Actual or Probable) 

Name of Director/s NONE 

Name of Officer/s NONE 

Name of Significant Shareholders NONE 

 
(ii) Mechanism 

 
Describe the mechanism laid down to detect, determine and resolve any possible conflict of 
interest between the company and/or its group and their directors, officers and significant 
shareholders. 

 
 
 

          Directors/Officers/Significant Shareholders 

Company The company, through its Board of Directors and management, strictl,  
monitors and resolves all possible conflict of interest situations. 

Group Same as above. 

 
5) Family, Commercial and Contractual Relations 

 
(a)    Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a family,6 commercial, contractual or business nature that 

exists between the holders of significant equity (5% or more), to the extent that they are known to 
the company: 

                                                 
6 Family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity. 
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      Names of Related 
Significant Shareholders 

   Type of Relationship     Brief Description of the 
            Relationship 

NONE   

 
(b) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a commercial, contractual or business nature that exists 

between the holders of significant equity (5% or more) and the company: 
 

      Names of Related 
Significant Shareholders 

          Type of Relationship        Brief Description 

NONE   

   

   

   

 
(c) Indicate any shareholder agreements that may impact on the control, ownership and strategic 

direction of the company: 
 

    Name of Shareholders   % of Capital Stock affected 
                  (Parties) 

 Brief Description of the  
          Transaction 

NONE   

   

 
 

6) Alternative Dispute Resolution 
 

Describe the alternative dispute resolution system adopted by the company for the last three (3) years 
in amicably settling conflicts or differences between the corporation and its stockholders, and the 
corporation and third parties, including regulatory authorities. Such conflicts and differences are 
resolved through rational discourse. 
 
 

 Alternative Dispute Resolution System 

Corporation & Stockholders NONE 

Name of Officer/s NONE 

Name of Significant Shareholders NONE 

 
 

C. BOARD MEETINGS & ATTENDANCE 
 
1) Are Board of Directors' meetings scheduled before or at the beginning of the year? No. They are 
scheduled as required. 
 
2) Attendance of Directors 

 

Board Name 
Date of 
Election 

No. of 
Meetings 

Held 
during the 

year 

No of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman Sai Chong Cheng 12/15/2014 
and re-
elected on 
12/15/2015 

4 3 75% 
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Member Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. 12/15/2014 
and re-
elected on 
12/15/2015 

4 4 100% 

Member Pauline C. Tan 12/15/2014 
and re-
elected on 
12/15/2015 

4 4 100% 

Member Edna D. Reyes 12/15/2014 
and re-
elected on 
12/15/2015 

4 4 100% 

Member Pedro M. Cadavida, Jr 12/15/2014 
and re-
elected on 
12/15/2015 

4 4 100% 

Independent Solomon R. B. Castro 12/15/2014 
and re-
elected on 
12/15/2015 

4 4 100% 

Independent Caly D. Ang 12/15/2014 
and re-
elected on 
12/15/2015 

4 4 100% 

 
 

3) Do non-executive directors have a separate meeting during the year without the presence of any 
executive? No. If yes, how many times? 
 

4) Is the minimum quorum requirement for Board decision set at two-thirds of board members? Please 
explain. No. The Corporation Code and By-laws of the Company only require a majority of the 
board for quorum in board meetings. 
 

5) Access to Information 
 
(a) How many days in advance are board papers7 for board of directors meetings provided to the 

board? Three days. 
 
(b) Do board members have independent access to Management and the Corporate Secretary? 

Yes. 
 

(c) State the policy of the role of the company secretary. Does such role include assisting the 
Chairman in preparing the board agenda, facilitating training of directors, keeping directors 
updated regarding any relevant statutory and regulatory changes, etc? Yes, as follows: (1) 
Inform the members of the Board, in accordance with the by-laws, of agenda of their 
meetings and ensure that the members have before them accurate information that will 
enable them to arrive at intelligent decisions on matters that require their approval. 
(2)Have appropriate administrative and interpersonal skills. (3) Be responsible for 
safekeeping and preservation of the integrity of the minutes of the meetings of the Board 
and its committees, as well as the other official records of the Corporation (4) if he is not 
at the same time the Corporation’s legal counsel, be aware of the laws, rules and 

                                                 
7 Board papers consist of complete and adequate information about the matters to be taken in the board meeting. 
Information includes the background or explanation on matters brought before the Board, disclosures, budgets, 
forecasts and internal financial documents. 
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regulations necessary in the performance of his duties and responsibilities. 
 

(d) Is the company secretary trained in legal, accountancy or company secretarial practices? Please 
explain should the answer be in the negative. Yes. 
 

(e) Committee Procedures 
 
Disclose whether there is a procedure that Directors can avail of to enable them to get 
information necessary to be able to prepare in advance for the meetings of different committees: 

               Yes                           No   
 

Committee Details of the procedures 

Executive      N/A 

Audit 
Such information is made available by the committee 
chairman. 

Nomination 
Such information is made available by the committee 
chairman. 

Remuneration 
Such information is made available by the committee 
chairman. 

Others (specify)      N/A 
 

6) External Advice 
 
Indicate whether or not a procedure exists whereby directors can receive external advice and, if so, 
provide details: 
 

Procedures Details 

NONE  
  

 
7) Change/s in existing policies 

 
Indicate, if applicable, any change/s introduced by the Board of Directors (during its most recent 
term) on existing policies that may have an effect on the business of the company and the 
reason/s for the change: 

 

Existing Policies Changes Reason 

NONE   

   

   

 
 
D. REMUNERATION MATTERS 
 
1) Remuneration Process 

 
Disclose the process used for determining the remuneration of the CEO and the four (4) most highly 
compensated management officers: 
 

Process CEO/President 
Top 4 Highest Paid 

Management Officers 

X 
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(1) Fixed remuneration NONE The renumeration of such officer is 
determined by considering both her 
duties and responsibilities and her 
annual performance evaluation. 

(2) Variable 
remuneration 

NONE NONE 

(3) Per diem allowance Determined by the Board and 
the stockholders.   

NONE 

(4) Bonus NONE NONE 

(5) Stock Options 
and other 
financial 
instruments 

NONE NONE 

(6) Others (specify) NONE NONE 

 
2) Remuneration Policy and Structure for Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
 

Disclose the company's policy on remuneration and the structure of its compensation package. 
Explain how the compensation of Executive and Non-Executive Directors is calculated. 
 

 

Remuneration 
Policy 

Structure of 
Compensation 

Packages 

How 
Compensation is 

Calculated 

Executive Directors 
Given a per diem 
allowance only. 

N/A N/A 

Non-Executive Directors Same as above. N/A N/A 

 
Do stockholders have the opportunity to approve the decision on total remuneration (fees, 
allowances, benefits-in-kind and other emoluments) of board of directors? Provide details for the last 
three (3) years. 
 

Remuneration Scheme 
Date of 

Stockholders’ Approval 
NONE  

  

  

 
 
 

3) Aggregate Remuneration  
 
Complete the following table on the aggregate remuneration accrued during the most recent year: 
 

Remuneration Item 
Executive 
Directors 

Non-Executive 
Directors 

(other than 
independent 

directors) 

Independent 
Directors 

(a) Fixed Remuneration 
P2,340,000       NONE      NONE 
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(b) Variable Remuneration 
 NONE       NONE      NONE 

(c) Per diem Allowance 
P90,000 P135,000 P90,000 

(d) Bonuses NONE      NONE      NONE 

(e) Stock Options 
and/or other 
financial 
instruments 

NONE      NONE      NONE 

(f) Others (Specify) NONE      NONE      NONE 

Total 
 

P2,430,000 P135,000 P 90,000 

 
 

Other Benefits 
Executive 
Directors 

Non-Executive 
Director 

(other than 
independent 

directors) 

Independent 
Directors 

( a )  Advances NONE NONE NONE 

( b )  Credit granted NONE NONE NONE 

( c )  Pension Plan/s 
Contributions 

With retirement 
fund 

NONE NONE 

( d )  Pension Plans, 
Obligations 
incurred 

NONE NONE NONE 

( e )  Life Insurance Premium NONE NONE NONE 

( f )  Hospitalization Plan  NONE NONE 

( g )  Car Plan NONE NONE NONE 

( h )  Others (Specify) NONE NONE NONE 

Total 
   

 
4) Stock Rights, Options and Warrants 
 

(a )  Board of Directors 
 
Complete the following table, on the members of the company's Board of Directors who own or are 
entitled to stock rights, options or warrants over the company's shares: 

 

Director's Name 

Number of 
Direct 

Option/Rights/ 
Warrants 

Number of 
Indirect 

Option/Rights/ 
Warrants 

Number of 
Equivalent 

Shares 

Total % from 
Capital Stock 

NONE N/A N/A N/A N/A 

     

     

     

 
(b )  Amendments of Incentive Programs 
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Indicate any amendments and discontinuation of any incentive programs introduced, including the 
criteria used in the creation of the program. Disclose whether these are subject to approval during 
the Annual Stockholders' Meeting: 

 

Incentive Program Amendments 
Date of 

Stockholders’ Approval 

   

NONE   

   

 
5) Remuneration of Management 

 
Identify the five (5) members of management who are not at the same time executive directors and 
indicate the total remuneration received during the financial year: 
 

Name of Officer/Position Total Remuneration 

None  

 
 

E. BOARD COMMITTEES 
 
1) Number of Members, Functions and Responsibilities 

 
Provide details on the number of members of each committee, its functions, key responsibilities and 
the power/authority delegated to it by the Board: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Committee 

No. of Members 

Committee 
Charter 

Functions 
Key 

Responsibilities 
 

Power Executive 
Director 

(ED) 

Non- 
executive 
Director 
(NED) 

Independent 
Director 

(ID) 
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Audit 

1 1 1 [There is an 
existing 
Board-
approved 
Committee 
Charter. 

Assist the 
Board in the 
performance of 
its oversight 
responsibility 
for the financial 
reporting 
process, 
system of 
internal 
control, audit 
process, and 
monitoring of 
compliance 
with applicable 
laws, rules and 
regulations 

Please see previous 
column 

Please see 
previous 
column 

Nomination 

0 2 1 None to review and 
evaluate the 
qualifications 
of all persons 
nominated to 
the Board and 
other 
appointments 
that require 
Board 
approval, and 
to assess the 
effectiveness 
of the Board’s 
processes and 
procedures in 
the election or 
replacement of 
directors 

Please see previous 
column 

Please see 
previous 
column 

Remuneration 1 1 1 None to establish a 
formal and 
transparent 
procedure for 
developing a 
policy on 
remuneration 
of directors 
and officers to 
ensure that 
their 
compensation 
is consistent 
with the 
corporation’s 
culture, 
strategy and 
the business 
environment in 
which it 
operates. 

Please see previous 
column 

Please see 
previous 
column 

Others(specify) none none none     
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(a) Audit Committee 

Office Name 
Date of 

Appointment 

No. of 
Meetings 

Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Length of 
Service In 

the 
Committee 

Chairman (ID) Caly D. Ang December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

Member (ED) Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

Member (NED) Edna D. Reyes December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

 
Disclose the profile or qualifications of the Audit Committee members. The Audit Committee shall 
consist of at least three (3) directors, who shall preferably have an accounting and finance 
backgrounds, one of whom shall  be an independent director and another with audit experience. 
The chairperson of the Audit Committee should be an independent director 
 

Caly D. Ang, Filipino, age 68, has been a director of the Corporation and of MAIC since 1995.  She 
has been an independent director of the Corporation and of MAIC since 2006. She is the president 
and general manager of Multi-World Philippines International, Inc. from 1989 up to the present and a 
director and president of Concord World Properties, Inc. from 1991 to the present. She graduated from 
Adamson University, Manila obtaining a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce in 1969 and a MBA 
from the same institution in 1971. 

 
Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. Filipino, age 69, has been a director of the Corporation since 1998 and its 
President from September 2006 up to present. He was the treasurer of the Corporation from 1998 to 
2006. He is the senior vice president, treasurer and director of MAIC since September 1, 1997 up to 
present. He is currently also a director of Manila Exposition Complex, Inc. Before joining MAIC in 1995, 
he was connected with Far East Bank and Trust Company. Mr. Carpio holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Mechanical Engineering from the De La Salle University and a Masters degree in Business 
Management from the Asian Institute of Management. He has more than thirty-six (36) years 
experience in commercial, investment and trust banking, as well as line management. 

 
Edna D. Reyes, Filipino, age 68, has been a director of the Corporation since 2000 and was its 
Treasurer between 2006 and 2007. She is also director of MAIC. She has more than thirty (30) years 
experience in banking, particularly in international and correspondent banking as well as foreign 
operations. She has a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce from the University of Santo Tomas. 

 
 

Describe the Audit Committee's responsibility relative to the external auditor. 
 
- Prior to the commencement of the audit, discuss with the external auditor the nature, scope and 

expenses of the audit, and ensure proper coordination if more than one audit firm is involved in 
the activity to secure the proper coverage and minimize duplication of efforts. 

- Review the reports submitted by the external auditors. 
 

(b) Nomination Committee 
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Office Name 
Date of 

Appointment 

No. of 
Meetings 

Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Length of 
Service In 

the 
Committee 

Chairman (ID) Solomon R. B. Castro December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

Member (NED) Sai Chong Cheng December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

Member (NED) 
Edna D. Reyes December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

 
(c) Remuneration Committee 

 

Office Name 
Date of 

Appointment 

No. of 
Meetings 

Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Length of 
Service In 

the 
Committee 

Chairman (ID) Caly D. Ang December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

Member (ED) Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

Member(NED) Sai Chong Cheng December 15, 2015 1 1 100% 6 

 
(d) Others (Specify) 

 
Provide the same information on all other committees constituted by the Board of Directors: NONE. 
 

Office Name 
Date of 

Appointment 

No. of 
Meetings 

Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Length of 
Service In 

the 
Committee 

Chairman       

Member (ED)       

Member 
(NED) 

      

Member (ID)       

Member       

 
3) Changes in Committee Members  

 
Indicate any changes in committee membership that occurred during the year and the reason for the 
changes: NONE. 
 

Name of 
Committee 

Name Reason 

Executive   

Audit   

Nomination   
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Remuneration   

Others (specify)   

 
4) Work Done and Issues Addressed 

 
Describe the work done by each committee and the significant issues addressed during the year. 
 

Name of 
Committee 

Work Done Issues Addressed 

Executive N/A N/A 

Audit Review of financial statements None 

Nomination 
Reviewed nomination of 
Directors and Officers 

None 

Remuneration None None 

Others (specify) N/A N/A 

 
5) Committee Program 
 

Provide a list of programs that each committee plans to undertake to address relevant issues in the 
improvement or enforcement of effective governance for the coming year. 
 

Name of 
Committee 

Planned Programs Issues to be Addressed 

Executive None None 

Audit None None 

Nomination None None 

Remuneration None None 

Others (specify) None None 

 
 

F. RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
 

The Corporation is exposed to certain risks which result from both its operating and investing 
activities.  The Corporation’s risk management is coordinated with the Board of Directors (BOD), 
and focuses on actively securing the Corporation’s short to medium-term cash flows by minimizing 
the exposure to financial markets.  The BOD reviews the effectiveness of the system annually. 

 
 
 

The Corporation does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options.  The most significant risks to which the Group is exposed to are described 
below. 
 

Foreign Currency Risk 
 

Most of the Corporation’s transactions are carried out in Philippine pesos, its functional currency.  
Exposures to currency exchange rates mainly arise from United States (U.S.) dollar-denominated 
bank deposits and short-term investments.   
 
To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Philippine peso cash flows are 
monitored. 
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Interest Rate Risk 

 
The Corporation monitors interest rate movements and makes adjustments on its financial assets 
and financial liabilities as may be deemed necessary.  The Company is exposed to changes in 
market interest rates of its bank placements which are subject to variable interest rates. 
 

Liquidity Risk 
 

The Corporation sets limit on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet such calls 
and on the minimum level of borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover unexpected 
liabilities falling due. 

 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty may fail to discharge an obligation to the Corporation.  The 
Corporation is exposed to this risk for various financial instruments from granting receivables to 
customers including related parties and placing deposits with banks. 

 
The Corporation continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparty, and 
incorporates this information into its credit risk controls.  The Corporation’s policy is to deal only 
with creditworthy counterparties. 

 
 
G. INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL 
 
1) Internal Control System 

 
Being a holding company, the Corporation’s transactions are mainly on recording equity investments in 
its subsidiary and also transactions involving disbursements of operating expenses.  Thus, the 
Corporation’s internal control system are focused on itscash receipts and cash disbursements, valuation 
of its equity investments, and related party transactions. 
 

2) Internal Audit 
 

(a) Role, Scope and Internal Audit Function 
 

In view of the non-complex nature of the Corporation’s business, the small volume and size of the 
transactions, the low degree of risk in terms of number of employees, as well for the purpose of 
avoiding unnecessary expenses, the Corporation does not see the need for creating the position of 
internal auditor. 

 
 
Give a general description of the role, scope of internal audit work and other details of the internal 
audit function. N/A 
 
 

  Role Scope Indicate whether 
  in-house or 
Outsource 
Internal Audit 
Function 

   Name of Chief 
       Internal 
Auditor/Auditing 
           Firm 

 Reporting 
 Process 

N/A     

 
(b) Do the appointment and/or removal of the Internal Auditor or the accounting /auditing firm or 

corporation to which the internal audit function is outsourced require the approval of the audit 
committee? N/A 
 

(c) Discuss the internal auditor's reporting relationship with the audit committee. Does the internal 
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auditor have direct and unfettered access to the board of directors and the audit committee and to 
all records, properties and personnel? N/A 
 

(d) Resignation, Re-assignment and Reasons 
 
Disclose any resignation/s or re-assignment of the internal audit staff (including those employed by 
the third-party auditing firm) and the reason/s for them. N/A 
 

                     Name of Audit Staff                      Reason 

  

  

  

 
(e) Progress against Plans, Issues, Findings and Examination Trends 

 
State the internal audit's progress against plans, significant issues, significant findings and 
examination trends. N/A 

 

Progress Against Plans  

Issues8  

Findings9  

Examination Trends  

 
[The relationship among progress, plans, issues and findings should be viewed as an internal 
control review cycle which involves the following step-by-step activities: 

1) Preparation of an audit plan inclusive of a timeline and milestones; 
2) Conduct of examination based on the plan; 
3) Evaluation of the progress in the implementation of the plan; 
4) Documentation of issues and findings as a result of the examination; 
5) Determination of the pervasive issues and findings ("examination trends") based on single 

year result and/or year-to-year results; 
6) Conduct of the foregoing procedures on a regular basis.] 

 
 
 
 
 

(f) Audit Control Policies and Procedures 
 
Disclose all internal audit controls, policies and procedures that have been established by the 
company and the result of an assessment as to whether the established controls, policies and 
procedures have been implemented under the column "Implementation." 

 
Policies & Procedures Implementation 

 

CONTROL PROCEDURES ON CASH RECEIPTS & DISBURSEMENTS  

 Payments/Checks should be prepared on the basis of the 
billings/statements of account/invoices from suppliers.  For reimbursements, 
checks should be prepared once request for reimbursement is approved by 
the President or the Treasurer of the Company. 

 

Fully implemented 

                                                 
8 "Issues" are compliance matters that arise from adopting different interpretations. 
9   "Findings" are those with concrete basis under the company's policies and rules. 
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 .Approved Check requisitions are given to the Accounting Assistant, for 
preparation of vouchers and checks. 

 

     Checks and vouchers are checked by the Chief Accountant and approved 
by the Treasurer. 

 

  Checks should be signed by any two of the following signatories: DN, PCT, 
SCC and JL. If only one signatory is available , the check is regularized 
once the other signatories are present. 

 

   Checks are released only when the supplier gives an official receipt or 
provisional receipt.  All provisional receipts are replaced by official receipts 
not later than one week after the payment date.  On the original copy of the 
voucher, the supplier or his assigned representative should sign the 
“received by” portion.  This serves as a proof of payment to the customer. 

 

  All paid billings/delivery receipts/statements of account and any document 
presented for payment are STAMPED PAID, as proof of payment. 

 

  All original vouchers are filed in sequence and any missing voucher is 
immediately attended to, in order to maintain accurate records. 

 

  Canceled checks are adjusted thru a Journal Voucher, reversing the original 
entry. 

 

 All cash and check collections are deposited in the company’s bank 
account. 

 

 The accounting staff shall always see to it that all deposit slips are intact and 
complete and filed on a daily basis to avoid being misplaced or lost. 

 

 Payments collected before bank clearing are deposited within the day and 
those after clearing are to be deposited early on the following day. 

 

CONTROL PROCEDURES ON PETTY CASH FUND  

 Expenses amounting to P1,000 and below shall be paid out of the petty 
cash fund. 

 A request form for cash advances shall be filled out and approved before 
any cash can be granted.  Cash advance shall be approved by either the 
Chief Accountant or the Treasurer. 

 No additional advances to a staff shall be granted if there are still 
unliquidated advances under his/her name. 

 Every reimbursement for expenses incurred and liquidation of advances 
shall be properly documented and supported.  Petty cash vouchers shall 
be completely filled out and signed.  Official Receipts shall be attached to 
the vouchers.  In cases there are no ORs, a list of expenses should be 
attached and signed by the staff asking for reimbursement/or preparing 
the liquidation. 

 All payments from the petty cash fund shall be approved by either the 
Chief Accountant or the Treasurer.  No cash shall be released unless the 
voucher has been properly filled out, checked and approved. 

 A spot audit shall be conducted.  This audit shall check on the validity of 
expenses incurred and completeness and authenticity of documentation 
and attachments.  At any point in time the sum of expenses incurred 
(PCVs), cash advances and cash on hand shall equal the amount of petty 
cash fund. 

 All paid receipts and bills are stamped “paid” by the petty cash custodian 
as soon as replenished and liquidated, to avoid double payment. 

 

Fully implemented 

CONTROL PROCEDURES ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS  

This represents the carrying value/cost of investments in shares of stock including Fully implemented 
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any unpaid subscriptions, of domestic corporations as allowed under the existing 
laws, rules and regulations. 
 

 Assess if the invetment at any point intime still qualifies under the equity 
method of investment. 

 Obtain financial statements of subsidiary and affiliate and compute the 
cmpany’s share of the subsidiary/affilite’s net income (loss). 

 Assess all investments for any permanent decline in value.  Indication of 
permanent decline may include continous lossess, illiquidity, presence of 
lawsuit that threaten the ability of the Company to continue as going 
concern, foreclosure of assets, among others. 

CONTROL PROCEDURES ON DUE TO9 FROM) AFFLIATES ACCOUNT  

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions with its 
subsidiary and affiliates consisting of advances. 
 

 All advances should be supported by documents 

 A reconciliation should be done every end of the month to ensure that the 
balances agree with the books of each subsidiary and affiliates. 

 Advances should be paid or should be maintained at a minimum balance 
of One Million Hongkong Dollars (HKD1m) 

 Significant intercompany transactions and outstanding balances of the 
Group should be eliminated in the consolidation. 

 

Fully implemented 

 
 
(g)  Mechanism and Safeguards 

 
State the mechanism established by the company to safeguard the independence of the 
auditors, financial analysts, investment banks and rating agencies (example, restrictions on 
trading in the company's shares and imposition of internal approval procedures for these 
transactions, limitation on the non-audit services that an external auditor may provide to the 
company): 
 

          Auditors  
(Internal and External) 

   Financial Analysts    Investment Banks      Rating Agencies 

    

NONE NONE NONE NONE 

 
(h) State the officers (preferably the Chairman and the CEO) who will have to attest to the company's 

full compliance with the SEC Code of Corporate Governance. Such confirmation must state that all 
directors, officers and employees of the company have been given proper instruction on their 
respective duties as mandated by the Code and that internal mechanisms are in place to ensure 
that compliance. The Chairman and the CEO/President. 

 

H. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS 
 
1) Disclose the company's policy and activities relative to the following: 

 

 Policy Activities 

Customers' welfare   NONE    NONE 

Supplier/contractor 
selection practice 

  NONE    NONE 

Environmentally friendly 
value-chain 

  NONE    NONE 

Community interaction   NONE    NONE 
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Anti-corruption programmes 
and procedures? 

  NONE    NONE 

Safeguarding creditors' rights   NONE    NONE 

 
2) Does the company have a separate corporate responsibility (CR) report/section or sustainability 

report/section? NONE. 
 
3) Performance-enhancing mechanisms for employee participation. 

 
(a) What are the company's policy for its employees' safety, health, and welfare? The Corporation 

strictly complies with the requirements of the Labor Code. 
 
(b) Show data relating to health, safety and welfare of its employees. Employee safety has never 
been a problem as the company maintains a safe working place. As for its employees’ health, 
any potential problems are immediately addressed inasmuch as the company provides 
medical insurance to all its employees. 

 
(c) State the company's training and development programmes for its employees. None. Show the 

data. 
 

(d) State the company's reward/compensation policy that accounts for the performance of the 
company beyond short-term financial measures There is an existing performance appraisal 
system. 

 
4) What are the company's procedures for handling complaints by employees concerning illegal (including 

corruption) and unethical behavior? The Corporation complies with the requirements of the Labor 
Code. Explain how employees are protected from retaliation. Such protection is readily provided 
by the management and the Board. 

 
 
I. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 
 
1) Ownership Structure 

 
(a) Holding 5% shareholding or more 
 

     Shareholder   Number of 
Shares 

           Percent   Beneficial Owner   

Citivest Asia Limited  322,314,901 46.04% Citivest Asia Limited 
    

 
 

Name of Senior 
Management 

Number of Direct shares 
Number of 

Indirect shares /Through 
(name of record owner) 

% of 
Capital 
Stock 

Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr.     1,008 None nil 

Pauline C. Tan            1 None nil 

    

    

TOTAL     1,009  nil 

 
 

2) Does the Annual Report disclose the following: 
 

Key risks    yes 
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Corporate objectives    yes 

Financial performance indicators    yes 

Non-financial performance indicators    yes 

Dividend policy    yes 

Details of whistle-blowing policy 

   None, SEC 
Form 17-A 
does not 
require it. 

Biographical details (at least age, qualifications, date of first appointment, 
relevant experience, and any other directorships of listed companies) of 
directors/commissioners 

   yes 

Training and/or continuing education programme attended by each 
director/commissioner 

   yes 

Number of board of directors/commissioners meetings held during the year     yes 

Attendance details of each director/commissioner in respect of meetings held     yes 

Details of remuneration of the CEO and each member of the board of 
directors/commissioners 

    yes 

 
Should the Annual Report not disclose any of the above, please indicate the reason for the 
nondisclosure. Not required by SEC Form 17-A. 
 

3) External Auditor's fee 

Name of auditor Audit Fee Non-audit Fee 

Punongbayan & Araullo P658,900 in year 2014 
(audited figure) 

   None 

 
4) Medium of Communication 

 
a) Through its website: http://www.medco.com.ph 
b) Publication in the newspaper 
c) Disclosure to PSE which is posted at the PSE website 

 
5) Date of release of audited financial report:  April 15, 2014 
 
6) Company Website 
 

Does the company have a website disclosing up-to-date information about the following? 

Business operations    yes 

Financial statements/reports (current and prior years)    yes 

Materials provided in briefings to analysts and media    yes 

Shareholding structure    yes 

Group corporate structure    yes 

Downloadable annual report    yes 

Notice of AGM and/or EGM    yes 

Company's constitution (company's by-laws, memorandum and articles 
of association) 

   yes 
 

 
Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto.  

 
7) Disclosure of RPT  (as of December 31, 2014- audited figures) 
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RPT Relationship Nature Value 

Related parties 
under common 
ownership with 
interlocking 
directors and 
officers 

A related party under 
common ownership 
of Lippo Group in 
Hong Kong 

Lease of office 
space 

Php1,531,384 

Officers and 
employees of the 
Company 

Cash advance 
granted (net) 

Php60,435 

Cash advance 
obtained (net) 

Php6,500,000 

Key management 
personnel 

Key management 
Personnel of the 
Company 

Salaries and other 
benefits 

Php5,323,160 

 
 

J. RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS 
 
1) Right to participate effectively in and vote in Annual/Special Stockholders' Meetings 
 

( a )  Quorum 
 
Give details on the quorum required to convene the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting as set 
forth in its By-laws. 
 

Quorum Required Holder(s) of a majority of the 
subscribed capital 

 
( b )  System Used to Approve Corporate Acts  

 
Explain the system used to approve corporate acts. 
 

System Used voting 

Description Majority of stockholders forming a quorum can 
approve corporate acts. 

 
(c )  Stockholders' Rights 

 
List any Stockholders' Rights concerning Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting that differ from 
those laid down in the Corporation Code. None. 
 
 
 

Stockholders’ Right under               
The Corporation Code 

Stockholders’ Rights not in     
The Corporation Code 

N/A N/A 

  

  

     
Dividends 
 

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date  

None   

 
( d )  Stockholders' Participation 
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1. State, if any, the measures adopted to promote stockholder participation in the Annual/Special 
Stockholders' Meeting, including the procedure on how stockholders and other parties 
interested may communicate directly with the Chairman of the Board, individual directors or 
board committees. Include in the discussion the steps the Board has taken to solicit and 
understand the views of the stockholders as well as procedures for putting forward proposals 
at stockholders' meetings. 

 

Measures Adopted Communication Procedure 

Microphones 
are provided 

Open forum 

  

 
2.  State the company policy of asking shareholders to actively participate in corporate decisions 

regarding: 
a. Amendments to the company's constitution 
 
This matter is required to be taken up in stockholder meetings and approved by 
stockholders 
 
b. Authorization of additional shares 
 
Increases in authorized capital is required to be taken up in stockholder meetings and 
approved by stockholders 
 
c. Transfer of all or substantially all assets, which in effect results in the sale of the 
company 
 
This matter is required to be taken up in stockholder meetings and approved by 
stockholders 

 
 
3. Does the company observe a minimum of 21 business days for giving out of notices to the AGM 

where items to be resolved by shareholders are taken up?   No. The SRC only requires 15 
business days. 

a. Date of sending out notices:  November 23, 2015 
b. Date of the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting:  December 15, 2015 

 
4. State, if any, questions and answers during the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting.Various 
 
 
 
5.  Result of Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting's Resolutions  

 

 Resolution Approving Dissenting Abstaining 

1. Approval of the minutes of the 
previous annual meeting of 
stockholders 

Unanimous   

Approval of the annual report 
and the audited financial 
statements as December 31, 
2014 

Unanimous   

Approval and ratififcation of acts, 
contracts, investments and 
resolutions of the board and 

Unanimous   
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management of he Corporation 
since the last annual meeting 

Election of the members of the 
board of the directors for 2014 

Unanimous   

Re-aapointment of Punongbayan 
& Araullo as external auditors of 
the Corporation for 2015 

Unanimous   

 
6. Date of publishing of the result of the votes taken during the most recent AGM for all resolutions: 
December 15, 2015. 

 
(e) Modifications 

 
State, if any, the modifications made in the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting regulations during 
the most recent year and the reason for such modification: 

 

Modifications Reasons for Modification 

None  

 
(f ) Stockholders' Attendance 

 
(i) Details of Attendance in the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting Held: 

 

Type of 
Meeting 

Names of 
Board 
members 
/ 
Officers 
present 

Date of 
Meeting 

Voting 
Procedure 
(by Poll, 
show of 
hands, 
etc.la 

% of SH 
Attending 
In Person 

% of 
SH in  
Proxy 

attendance 

Total % of SH 
attendance 

Annual Dionisio 
E. Carpio, 
Jr., Edna 
D. Reyes, 
Pauline 
C. Tan, 
Solomon 
R.B. 
Castro 
Pedro 
Cadavida, 
Jr. 

December 
15, 2015 

Show of 
hands 

0.0288% 70.6878% 70.7166% 

       

 
 

(ii) Does the company appoint an independent party (inspectors) to count and/or validate the votes at 
the ASM/SSMs? No. 
 

(iii) Do the company's common shares carry one vote for one share? Yes.  If not, disclose and give 
reasons for any divergence to this standard. Where the company has more than one class of 
shares, describe the voting rights attached to each class of shares. 
 

(g) Proxy Voting Policies 
 
State the policies followed by the company regarding proxy voting in the Annual/Special Stockholders' 
Meeting. 
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Company's Policies 

Execution and acceptance of 
proxies 

Proxies which are compliant with the Corporation Code and 
by-laws of the Corporation are accepted by the Corporation  

Notary Not required 

Submission of Proxy 
Proxies which are compliant with the Corporation Code and 
by-laws of the Corporation are accepted by the Corporation  

Several Proxies 
Proxies which are compliant with the Corporation Code and 
by-laws of the Corporation are accepted by the Corporation  

Validity of Proxy 
Proxies which are compliant with the Corporation Code and 
by-laws of the Corporation are accepted by the Corporation  

Proxies executed abroad 
Proxies which are compliant with the Corporation Code and 
by-laws of the Corporation are accepted by the Corporation  

Invalidated Proxy These are not recognized by the Corporation  

Validation of Proxy 
SEC rules are followed 

Violation of Proxy SEC rules are followed 

 
(h) Sending of Notices 

 
State the company's policies and procedure on the sending of notices of Annual/Special Stockholders' 
Meeting. 

Policies Procedures 

Notices must be received by stockholders 
as of record date prior to any meeting 

Notices are personally delivered and/ or are 
mailed  to the stockholders as of record date 

  

 
(i) Definitive Information Statements and Management Report 
 

Number of Stockholders entitled to 
receive Definitive information 
Statements and Management Report 
and Other Materials 

679 

Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive 
Information Statement and Management 
Report and Other Materials held by 
market participants/certain beneficial 
owners 

November 23, 2015 

Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive 
Information Statement and Management 
Report and Other Materials held by 
stockholders 

November 23, 2015 

State whether CD format or hard 
Copies were distributed 

CD 

If yes, indicate whether requesting 
stockholders were provided hard copies 

Yes 
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(j) Does the Notice of Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting include the following: 
 

Each resolution to be taken up deals with only one item. 
  Yes 

Profiles of directors (at least age, qualification, date of first 
appointment, experience, and directorships in other listed 
companies) nominated for election/re-election. 

  Yes 

The auditors to be appointed or re-appointed.    Yes 

An explanation of the dividend policy, if any dividend is to be 
declared. 

   Yes 

The amount payable for final dividends.    None declared. 

Documents required for proxy vote.    Yes 

 
Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto. 

 
2) Treatment of Minority Stockholders 
 

(a) State the company's policies with respect to the treatment of minority stockholders. 
 

Policies Implementation 

Minority Shareholders have the same voting 
rights, power of inspection, right to 
information, right to dividends, and 
appraisal right as other shareholders. 

Minority shareholders are given notices of 
meetings. 

 
(b) Do minority stockholders have a right to nominate candidates for board of directors? Yes. 

 
K. INVESTORS RELATIONS PROGRAM 
 
1) Discuss the company's external and internal communications policies and how frequently they are 

reviewed. Disclose who reviews and approves major company announcements. Identify the committee 
with this responsibility, if it has been assigned to a committee.  

 
It is the company’s external communications policy to strictly comply with the pertinent SRC disclosure 
rules as well as the disclosure regulations of the PSE and to keep informed about any revisions and 
updates to such rules. Major company announcements are reviewed and approved by the Board. 

 
As for its internal communications policy, the Board regularly disseminates relevant information on its 
plans, actions, decisions and directives to those concerned within the organization through company 
management. 

 
2) Describe the company's investor relations program including its communications strategy to promote 

effective communication with its stockholders, other stakeholders and the public in general. Disclose 
the contact details (e.g. telephone, fax and email) of the officer responsible for investor relations. 

 
 

 Details 

(1) Objectives  Full disclosure of material information 
(2) Principles In accordance with SRC and PSE rules and guidelines 

(3) Modes of Communication 
Uploading to PSE website and posting at company 
website 
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(4) Investors Relations Officer 

Dionisio E. Carpio, Jr. 
Corporate Information Officer 
Tel Nos. 811-0465 to 66 
Fax No. 840-35-49 

         Email: denniscarpio@medco.com.ph 
 
3) What are the company's rules and procedures governing the acquisition of corporate control in the 

capital markets, and extraordinary transactions such as mergers, and sales of substantial portions of 
corporate assets?   NONE. 
 
Name of the independent party the board of directors of the company appointed to evaluate the 
fairness of the transaction price. NONE. 
 
 

L. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVE 
Discuss any initiative undertaken or proposed to be undertaken by the company. 
 

Initiative Beneficiary 

NONE  

  

  

  

 
 

M. BOARD, DIRECTOR, COMMITTEE AND CEO APPRAISAL 
Disclose the process followed and criteria used in assessing the annual performance of the board and its 
committees, individual director, and the CEO/President. 
 

 Process Criteria 

 Board of Directors 
Conducted by the Board 
Chairman 

Attainment of corporate 
objectives 

Board Committees 
Conducted by the Board 
Chairman 

Performance of 
committee functions 

Individual Directors 
Conducted by the Board 
Chairman 

Quality of participation 
in Board meetings 

CEO/President 

Conducted by the Board 
Chairman 

Attainment of annual 
budget & management 
goals 

 
N. INTERNAL BREACHES AND SANCTIONS 

 
Discuss the internal policies on sanctions imposed for any violation or breach of the corporate governance 
manual involving directors, officers, management and employees 
 

Violations Sanctions 

Violations of the Corporate Governance 
Manual 

Report the matter to the Board and 
recommend the imposition of appropriate 
disciplinary action on the responsible parties 
and the adoption of measures to prevent a 
repetition of the violation 
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